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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I call this

          3  hearing to order.  This is a joint hearing of the

          4  Health Committee and the Select Committee on

          5  Technology in Government.  I'm Christine Quinn and I

          6  Chair the Health Committee.  This is my colleague,

          7  Council Member Brewer, who chairs the Committee on

          8  Technology in Government.  We've been joined by the

          9  Minority Leader, Council Member Oddo, who's also a

         10  member of the Health Committee.  There's a steering

         11  committee going on as we speak, and some of the

         12  members of both committees are in that, so people

         13  will be coming in and out this morning.

         14                 As everyone knows, we're here today

         15  to have a hearing on Intro. 198, a bill which would

         16  require the city to create an Electronic Data

         17  Registry System, EDRS, as we'll probably refer to it

         18  through most of today's hearing, and also to have

         19  somewhat of an oversight and dialogue with the

         20  Department of Health & Mental Hygiene about the

         21  efforts they have begun to take in this area as it

         22  relates to Electronic Death Registry Systems.

         23                 Obviously, the overall goal of this

         24  bill, and what we hope we'll hear from the agency

         25  about the steps they've taken, is to try to simplify
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          2  this process for all who are involved in it.

          3                 Obviously, we'll be hearing from

          4  folks who are involved in it on a professional

          5  level, folks who run funeral parlors for funeral

          6  directors, but, obviously, the ultimate goal of all

          7  of this in the end is to make it easier for the

          8  families who have lost loved ones.  Anything we can

          9  do to make the process quicker and smoother and less

         10  burdensome for them at a time of such terrible loss,

         11  is an important goal for government.

         12                 As my colleague, Council Member

         13  Brewer has been an unbelievable leader in pointing

         14  out also things like EDRS can, in the long run,

         15  although there may be financial outlay in the

         16  beginning, end up saving the city money because as

         17  we move off of paper systems and onto electronic

         18  systems, Gale has even made me a believer in e- mail

         19  which she can tell you I've come along begrudgingly.

         20    I, for a long time, said I thought e- mail would

         21  go the way of the eight track.  I was proven wrong.

         22  But that in the end we can save money as we move off

         23  of paper onto electronic systems.  I think that

         24  would be important to get information as it related

         25  to that.
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          2                 I want to, before I turn the hearing

          3  over to my colleague, Council Member Brewer, want to

          4  thank her and the staff of the Committee on

          5  Technology in Government, particularly Nick Knoll,

          6  for all the work they did on this. They put together

          7  a really terrific briefing book and have done a lot

          8  of meetings and research with the professional

          9  associations involved, with the agencies, with our

         10  neighbors in New Jersey.  I think we're going to

         11  have an incredibly comprehensive hearing because of

         12  that.

         13                 I also want to thank the staff to the

         14  Health Committee, Chris Winward, Michael Hollenberg,

         15  Judith McFarland, for the work that they've done on

         16  this.  I want to thank the agency for being very

         17  accessible to both of the committees.  I also want

         18  to thank the folks from the Metropolitan Funeral

         19  Directors who've been very helpful in getting us

         20  information about how these procedures work.

         21                 Council Member Brewer?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you, Chair

         23  Quinn.              I certainly second her support

         24  for those whom we've been working with to put this

         25  hearing together.  The Select Committee on
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          2  Technology in Government, just so you know, the

          3  reason we're co-sponsoring it is because we have

          4  been thinking a lot during the last year about how

          5  to make e- government something that's efficient,

          6  but also helpful to the public.  Along those lines,

          7  we had a hearing recently and published a report,

          8  all of which is online.

          9                 We're very fortunate to work with

         10  Nick Knoll, who's the policy analyst. We've been

         11  able to put up all the testimony.  For instance,

         12  today will go up online as soon as the hearing's

         13  over as all the testimony, briefing papers and bills

         14  from past hearings from the last year go up online.

         15  I think we're the only committee to have done that.

         16                 We just did a hearing on e-

         17  procurement, which has relevance here because, as

         18  time goes on, if anyone in the audience was to try

         19  to secure a contract with the City of New York, we

         20  hope to make it a whole lot easier, just as your

         21  work in the daily bereavement and business world of

         22  trying to make a system more compassionate and also

         23  make it more efficient using technology.  The e-

         24  procurement report is up that tries to do that.

         25                 Secondly, tomorrow, actually, we're
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          2  having a hearing of something that may not be

          3  directly relevant to you but to maybe some of the

          4  people you work with on extra net.  And translated,

          5  what that means is that the human service agencies

          6  and the City of New York, people who provide direct

          7  service hopefully will be able to have a platform --

          8  again, this is down the line -- so that they can

          9  work together on one case, not dissimilar from what

         10  we're talking about today.

         11                 In other words, if an individual has

         12  different ways in which he or she is interacting in

         13  terms of her family, maybe regarding her children or

         14  her parents, we would have, instead of reading one's

         15  name to a social worker 20 times, you could do it

         16  once and it would all be on the platform.  So,

         17  that's what we're talking about tomorrow.

         18                 And then finally, we've been working

         19  with Community Boards.  Lastly. Something for all of

         20  you in the audience you may not have to deal with,

         21  but something that we as elected officials actually

         22  enjoy working with in our neighborhoods and those

         23  Community Boards would not have much access to

         24  technology.  So, working with Do It, which is the

         25  technology agency for the City of New York, we're
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          2  going to be releasing a study as to how those

          3  Community Boards would perhaps have more access and

          4  ways in which that could be done.

          5                 Again, it is relevant to today

          6  because what we're talking about I think in terms of

          7  the bill or perhaps what the Department of Health is

          8  thinking about is making it easier for doctors,

          9  funeral directors and the City of New York to

         10  collaborate on a platform that uses technology and

         11  could make it easier for everyone.

         12                 Without further ado, I again want to

         13  thank just Nick Knoll who's awesome but also Donna

         14  DeCostanzo, who's here to my right, who is the

         15  counsel to the committee and also Brian Cavanaugh,

         16  who's Chief of Staff and General Counsel in my

         17  office, all of whom put this hearing together.

         18                 So, without further ado, why don't we

         19  get started.  We have a panel one, Dr. Isaac

         20  Weisfuse, Deputy Commissioner for Disease Control at

         21  the Department of Health, come out and join us.

         22  Steven Schwartz, Dr. Steven Schwartz, who's the City

         23  Registrar of the Department of Health, Assistant

         24  Commissioner for Vital Statistics and Vital Records.

         25                 Edward Carubis, Assistant
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          2  Commissioner for Management Information Services at

          3  Health.  He is the Assistant Commissioner for MIS,

          4  for the Department of Health.  We have his bio in

          5  particular, but I'll tell you why in a minute.

          6  During 13 years with DOH he has successfully managed

          7  the delivery of strategic technology applications

          8  including enterprise case management person- based

          9  repositories and inspection scheduling systems.  He

         10  really has transformed DOH into a leading provider

         11  of online services.

         12                 I want to mention this particularly

         13  because of his restaurant inspection website, which

         14  I know is a big hit on the west side.  I also want

         15  to mention it because when we had our very first

         16  hearing in this committee he was one of the people

         17  who testified and it was great because the "New York

         18  Times" was in the audience.  Ivan Peterson wrote the

         19  story, and he was lauded in this particular "New

         20  York Times" article as a model government official.

         21                 We welcome you here today.

         22                 I guess if you want to start -- oh,

         23  there's also here from the Office of the Medical

         24  Examiner, so we'll introduce you as you go along.

         25  So, why don't we start with Dr. Weisfuse.
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          2                 DR. WEISFUSE:  Good morning.  My name

          3  is Dr. Isaac Weisfuse, Deputy Commissioner for

          4  Disease Control of the New York City Department of

          5  Health and Mental Hygiene.

          6                 As was explained by Council Member

          7  Brewer, accompanying me today are Dr. Steven

          8  Schwartz, Assistant Commissioner for Vital

          9  Statistics and the City Registrar and Edward

         10  Carubis, Associate Commissioner for Information

         11  Technology.

         12                 We're also joined by Shiya Ribowski

         13  and the Deputy Director of Investigations at the

         14  Medical Examiner's Office.

         15                 Thank you very much for the

         16  opportunity to be here to discuss this important

         17  issue.  We appreciate the Council's interest in and

         18  support for an electronic death registry system or

         19  EDRS which is illustrated by Intro. 198.

         20                 Although we have a number of concerns

         21  about Intro. 198, which I will go to later into my

         22  testimony, I want to assure these committees and the

         23  Council that we share your commitment to the

         24  implementation of an effective and secure electronic

         25  death registration system in New York City at the
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          2  earliest possible date.  I also want to assure you

          3  that the department is doing all that's possible to

          4  accomplish the same and we look forward to working

          5  with the Council toward this end.

          6                 Development of an electronic death

          7  registration system is so important to the

          8  department that New York City, in collaboration with

          9  the Social Security Administration, the National

         10  Center for Health Statistics and the National

         11  Association for Public Health Statistics &

         12  Information Systems is leading an effort to create a

         13  national model.  No such model now exists and, in

         14  fact, of the few EDR systems nationwide, none meets

         15  national standards.  The department is hosting this

         16  effort to draw on the combined expertise of other

         17  states to speed implementation in New York City and

         18  nationwide.

         19                 An electronic death registration

         20  system has many potential advantages including fewer

         21  errors on death certificates and burial permits

         22  because the system will perform edits prior to

         23  acceptance preventing many physician and funeral

         24  director errors, verification of the Social Security

         25  number of the decedent by matching automatically
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          2  with Social Security Administration files, improved

          3  review and acceptance of death certificates based on

          4  rules built into the system, therefore reducing

          5  clerical errors, improved fraud prevention by using

          6  electronic authentication permitting only an

          7  authorized person to sign the appropriate section of

          8  the death certificate, automatic referral to the

          9  Office of the Chief Medical Examiner for possible

         10  medical examiner cases and cremation approvals,

         11  linkage to the medical examiner's system to ensure

         12  more accurate reporting and faster and more accurate

         13  amendments to death certificates, improved data

         14  quality which will provide more timely and accurate

         15  cause of death and other public health data,

         16  improved confidentiality and security of the death

         17  registration system and, finally, improved customer

         18  service because funeral directors will not have to

         19  travel to the department to file death certificates

         20  or to obtain a burial permit.

         21                 I'd like to now go into discussing

         22  the unique complexity of EDRS systems.  Implementing

         23  an electronic death registration system is much more

         24  difficult than it may appear.  EDRS is far more

         25  complex than the electronic birth registration
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          2  system which we fully implemented in 1996, which has

          3  been very successful.  Many states have attempted to

          4  design and implement electronic death registration

          5  system and to date none has a registration system

          6  that meets national standards, satisfies the

          7  multiple needs such a system must serve and provide

          8  sufficient security to meet New York City's needs.

          9  A neighboring state implemented an electronic

         10  registration system, but after two years only about

         11  1% of its 80,000 deaths annually are registered

         12  electronically, roughly one or two deaths a day.

         13  And it still does not meet minimum standards for

         14  security and confidentiality.

         15                 As you know, the department also

         16  attempted to design an EDR system several years ago.

         17    While that project did provide valuable

         18  information, it did not result in a product that

         19  could lead to the immediate implementation of a

         20  usable system.

         21                 The design and implementation of an

         22  electronic death registration system is inherently

         23  complex. I'd like to go through some of the factors

         24  that make this complexity a challenge to

         25  implementation.
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          2                 First, there are many participants.

          3  Unlike births which are filed almost exclusively by

          4  birthing facilities on a regular and predictable

          5  basis, at least two parties participate in the

          6  filing of each death certificate,

          7  The physician who provides medical information and

          8  the funeral director who provides demographic

          9  information.  The medical examiner may also be

         10  involved.

         11                 Next, deaths occur at more than 150

         12  hospitals and nursing homes and 20% occur at home.

         13  Births are filed regularly by a relatively small

         14  number of hospitals and birthing centers currently

         15  numbering only 47.  While there are tens of

         16  thousands of physicians who may be called upon to

         17  certify death, some only infrequently.  An EDR

         18  system must be accessible to all users, not only

         19  large hospitals and clinic systems with advanced

         20  technical support but also independent physicians

         21  with relatively little technical expertise or

         22  support and small family- run funeral establishments

         23  as well as large funeral operations.

         24                 The system must meet many needs.  It

         25  must satisfy the department's health- based data
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          2  collection needs and inform the Social Security

          3  Administration of deaths quickly and accurately.

          4  Because death certificates include sensitive

          5  personal information, it must be absolutely secure

          6  and confidential.

          7                 The system must be capable of

          8  registering deaths and issuing burial permits and

          9  cremation authorizations quickly enabling immediate

         10  disposition of human remains by exchanging

         11  information among participants in a secure and

         12  confidential manner.

         13                 Perhaps most importantly, the system

         14  must maintain the integrity of the death

         15  registration process and prevent fraud.  The simple

         16  password used in many other internet transactions is

         17  not sufficient as it inevitably would be shared by

         18  many individuals.  Unlike many other business

         19  electronic systems, the death registration system

         20  cannot tolerate any level of fraud.  The impact of

         21  even one fraudulent transaction, for example, a fake

         22  death, has serious economic consequences and could

         23  also seriously undermine public confidence in the

         24  system.  An internet- based system will inevitably

         25  create an attractive target for this kind of fraud.
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          2                 Finally, it must be designed to

          3  encourage high user acceptance or it simply will not

          4  work.

          5                 These challenges notwithstanding, we

          6  continue to be committed to developing an electronic

          7  death registration system, however we are determined

          8  to proceed judiciously and carefully and in a way

          9  that will ultimately assure success.  In the fall of

         10  2000 we issued a request for proposals on a project

         11  description to build an EDRS system for New York

         12  City.

         13                 In the spring of 2001 we selected the

         14  vendor Dynamic Services International through a

         15  competitive bid.

         16                 However, as we met with the vendor to

         17  design the scope of the fixed price, deliverables-

         18  based contract, it became apparent that although we

         19  thought the RFP was quite specific, there were still

         20  many ambiguities and differences in interpretation

         21  that had to be resolved before we could sign a

         22  contract.

         23                 During this time Dr. Schwartz, who

         24  sits on the board of NAPHSIS was discussing these

         25  problems with other state registrars who are having
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          2  similar experiences in their attempts to develop

          3  EDRS systems.  Our work on this project was

          4  interrupted by 9/11 and it had to be put on hold

          5  until the spring of 2002.  When we resumed work on

          6  this project and learned of the experience of many

          7  other jurisdictions in unsuccessfully implementing

          8  ERS, it became evident that a national collaborative

          9  effort was needed.

         10                 Let me go through with you now our

         11  new model and new strategies for developing an EDRS

         12  in New York City.

         13                 There are several problems with any

         14  jurisdiction attempting to build an EDR system on

         15  its own. First, it is inherently wasteful for states

         16  to separately develop similar systems, there's a

         17  lack of technical resources in any one jurisdiction,

         18  each jurisdiction individually must bear the high

         19  risk of failure and, finally, failure to build on

         20  the collective expertise of all the jurisdictions

         21  and take advantage of the potential for pooling

         22  knowledge and resources.

         23                 NCHS, SSA and NAPHSIS have developed

         24  a strategy to speed the reliable implementation of

         25  electronic birth and death registration systems.
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          2  The first phase of this strategises developing

          3  requirement specifications.

          4                 New York City was selected to lead

          5  the effort to develop a national model for

          6  electronic death registration.  The major goal is to

          7  produce a requirements document that will serve as

          8  the national model for EDRS. The city is adopting

          9  the unique approach of working with five other

         10  jurisdictions, the Social Security Administration,

         11  the National Center for Health Statistics and the

         12  National Association for Public Health Statistics

         13  and Information Systems.  The model that is

         14  developed through a process called "use- case"

         15  modeling will benefit from the experience of other

         16  jurisdictions and will more likely result in a best

         17  practices design.  It will be freely shared with all

         18  interested jurisdictions and vendors and should

         19  ultimately speed up implementation of EDRS systems

         20  nationwide.

         21                 The requirements phase of this

         22  project is being largely funded by the Social

         23  Security Administration which provided $500,000 in

         24  October 2002 to the city for this project.  The EDRS

         25  national team will develop systems requirements.
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          2  New York City has engaged Northrup Grumman Mission

          3  Systems, a firm with extensive experience working

          4  with the United States Centers for Disease Control

          5  and Prevention on "use- case" modeling.  Northrup

          6  Grumman will conduct a series of workshops, the goal

          7  of which will be to construct a core set of

          8  unambiguous requirements that have national

          9  applicability and have an additional set of New York

         10  City specific extensions that will meet New York

         11  City's local needs.  This product is to be delivered

         12  by June 2003.

         13                 As you may know, New York City hosted

         14  the first of the working meetings during the week of

         15  January 20th.  These committees graciously agreed to

         16  delay these hearings which were originally scheduled

         17  for that week to accommodate that schedule and we

         18  want you to know that we greatly appreciate your

         19  consideration in this matter.

         20                 With regard to DSI, the vendor that

         21  has been chosen to build the system for the city,

         22  we're please to note that it has been cooperative

         23  and has agreed to use the model developed by the

         24  EDRS national team.  We will incorporate this into

         25  the contract which we expect to have signed by June
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          2  30th.

          3                 The New York City Department of

          4  Health and Mental Hygiene realizes that it has been

          5  a long road from the start of EDRS discussions with

          6  funeral directors more than eight years ago.

          7  However, during that time no state or jurisdiction

          8  has implemented a functioning EDR system that meets

          9  national standards.  Today there's a clear path

         10  toward implementation and New York City is leading

         11  the way.  I should also note there have been several

         12  major advances in web- based application and

         13  technology over the last several years which we

         14  believe will be a great advantage to our efforts.

         15                 As you may know, there's currently an

         16  audit of the department's activities with regard to

         17  EDRS.  As we always do, we are complying fully with

         18  this audit.  When the audit is finalized it will be,

         19  as you know, a public document.  Until that time

         20  we'll be unable to comment on the details of past

         21  efforts.

         22                 The department also recognized the

         23  need for immediate improvements in its systems and

         24  the need to build an infrastructure that will

         25  facilitate EDRS implementation. These recent
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          2  improvements include:  A second citywide death

          3  registration office which was opened at the Bedford

          4  Health Center in Brooklyn.  To improve service to

          5  funeral directors and ease congestion in lower

          6  Manhattan, the Bedford site operates during normal

          7  business hours to supplement services provided by

          8  the lower Manhattan burial desk that operates 24

          9  hours a day, seven days a week.  Both sites register

         10  deaths and issue burial permits and certified copies

         11  of death certificates.  The second site will serve

         12  as a site for printing EDRS- certified death

         13  certificates and also provide a backup to the main

         14  burial desk for emergencies.  Currently

         15  approximately 20% of all certificates are filed at

         16  this second office.

         17                 An electronic certificate numbering

         18  and date stamping system was developed and

         19  implemented.  This enabled the opening of the second

         20  burial desk and will also become a part of the EDR

         21  system.

         22                 A new key data entry system was

         23  developed and is being tested to replace the current

         24  antiquated key entry system.  The system will

         25  integrate directly with the EDR system.
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          2                 On January 1st, 2003 a redesigned

          3  death certificate form was issued which was

          4  developed in consultation with funeral directors,

          5  hospitals and the office for the chief medical

          6  examiner.  It conforms to new United States

          7  standards, is easier to use, has extensive

          8  instructions to reduce errors and was designed to

          9  facilitate EDRS implementation.

         10                 We worked with the Office of the

         11  Chief Medical Examiner on specifications for its new

         12  automated system which will improve the speed and

         13  accuracy of completing medical examiner amendments.

         14  It will also integrate with the EDR system.

         15                 An e- commerce application that

         16  enables funeral directors to pay for certified

         17  copies of death certificates electronically was

         18  developed and piloted.  This provides the department

         19  and funeral directors with experience on electronic

         20  payment for death certificates and is directly

         21  applicable to EDRS.

         22                 Finally, I'd like to make just a few

         23  comments regarding Intro. No. 198- A which would

         24  mandate an internet based electronic death

         25  registration and a time line for implementation.
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          2                 As you may know, the New York City

          3  Charter requires that the Board of Health specify in

          4  the Health Code the manner in which a death registry

          5  shall be maintained and certificates filed with the

          6  department.  In anticipation of the implementation

          7  of electronic death registry, the Board of Health

          8  has authorized in Section 205.03(c) of the Code that

          9   "Certificates of death and confidential medical

         10  reports may be filed with the department

         11  electronically by means of computer programs

         12  specified and provided or otherwise authorized for

         13  use by the department."  The department proposed the

         14  health code amendment because of our commitment to

         15  an EDR system, and additional authority is

         16  unnecessary.

         17                 Although we appreciate the intent of

         18  Intro. 198- A, we believe it is extremely unwise to

         19  attempt to legislate technology with the specificity

         20  contained in this intro.  If we consider the speed

         21  with which technology has changed over the past five

         22  to fifteen years, we're reminded of how quickly a

         23  law can become antiquated and impede future

         24  improvements.  Intro. 198- A also mandates the time

         25  lines for implementation that are unrealistic,
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          2  especially given the lack of an adequate working

          3  model of an EDRS system anywhere in the United

          4  States.

          5                 In addition to it being futile to

          6  mandate the electronic registration in every case,

          7  as we understand the bill would do, there will

          8  always be a need for a small number of manual

          9  registration.  The interruption of a single user's

         10  internet account or localized power outage that

         11  would not reach the level of an emergency, for

         12  example, could create temporary need for manual

         13  registration.  In addition, there will always be a

         14  small number of users, a small nursing home, for

         15  example, or individual physicians who may have no

         16  other reason for internet access.  We believe they

         17  also have a right to be accommodated by the system.

         18                 We're also puzzled as to why Intro.

         19  198 would prohibit the use of biometric devices

         20  which today are considered the best practices

         21  security standard in health care nationally.  In

         22  fact, biometric authentication will likely become a

         23  standard practice in the health care industry.  As

         24  stated earlier, the highest level of security is

         25  essential in death registrations.  New security
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          2  challenges may evolve in the future, but it would

          3  make no sense to rule out the use of the most secure

          4  technology that exists today.

          5                 In closing, the department does not

          6  believe that Intro. 198 is necessary.  We assure the

          7  Council the department is committed to

          8  implementation of electronic death registration

          9  system and we believe we're proceeding in a way that

         10  is most likely to assure a successful, usable

         11  product in the least amount of time.

         12                 Again, we appreciate the Council's

         13  interest in this project and we'll be pleased to

         14  work with the committee toward our mutual goal.  Dr.

         15  Schwartz, Mr. Carubis and I will be happy to try to

         16  answer any further questions you may have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I would also

         18  welcome Council Member Helen Sears, who's a member

         19  of the Health Committee, who's way down to our left.

         20

         21                 I had a few questions.  I know my

         22  colleagues

         23   -- first of all, thank you very much.  I just think

         24  I know a few technology terms, but not them all.

         25  When we're talking about the biometric, my question
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          2  is, and I, too, want to make sure that the system is

          3  as secure as possible. I actually was down there

          4  last night at 125 Worth.  I was there for about

          5  three hours observing.  They all thought I was

          6  waiting in line, but I was really just observing,

          7  and I learned a lot which I will bring up in a

          8  little while.            In terms of the best

          9  practices and some of the national suggestions, is

         10  the biometric something that is suggested nationally

         11  or is it in terms of a secure system or is it just

         12  encryption and authentication?  How does that fit in

         13  in terms of the biometric?

         14                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Good morning,

         15  Madam Chair Brewer, Madam Chair Queen, members of

         16  the Council.

         17                 Biometric devices are one method of

         18  deploying a second factor of authentication.  What

         19  we believe strongly in is that a single factor of

         20  authentication, namely password authentication, for

         21  an internet commerce transaction is insufficient.

         22  There are a number of different strategies for that

         23  second factor of authentication.  Biometric devices

         24  of various types are included among them.

         25                 It is important, though, in terms of
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          2  standards that are being established that new HIPAA

          3  requirements will require the health care industry

          4  to adopt authentication strategies that ensure a

          5  sufficient level of identity management.  That is,

          6  making sure that the person on the other end of the

          7  transaction is in fact who they say they are.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, you're doing

          9  it based on the future suggestions in the industry

         10  as a whole. Okay.  All right.

         11                 When will the EDRS be expanded to the

         12  entire process?  I know that we're talking about the

         13  medical examiner.  Just in terms of timetable you

         14  mentioned some here, but I was just wondering if you

         15  could expand on that.

         16                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Our goal is to

         17  have --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Can you

         19  introduce yourself?  I'm sorry.

         20                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  I'm Steven

         21  Schwartz, the Registrar and Assistant Commissioner

         22  for Vital Statistics.

         23  Good morning, Council Member Brewer, Council Member

         24  Quinn.

         25                 Our goal is to pilot an EDR system
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          2  within two years.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  And that

          4  would be for everyone?

          5                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  It would have

          6  the capacity.  It will take -- as we know in

          7  introducing a new system, it won't be everyone all

          8  at once.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And how will the

         10  training work for everyone?  How will the training

         11  be incorporated into that for the pilot?

         12                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  We will start

         13  small.  We will test it out.  We will likely work

         14  first with our colleagues in the Medical Examiner's

         15  Office.  The Medical Examiner's Office essentially

         16  functions as they are medical certifiers of death.

         17  They are, in fact, the single largest certifiers of

         18  deaths in the city.  They certify about 15% of all

         19  deaths.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

         21                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  So, we'll work

         22  with them first and we'll learn from them on

         23  training.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Is the training

         25  cost part of what you got from SSA in terms of grant
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          2  or is that going to be absorbed?  By whom?  How does

          3  the training get paid for?

          4                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  That will be the

          5  city's responsibility.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, it will be

          7  the city's responsibility.  And you budgeted for

          8  that?

          9                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  We are planning

         10  for it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  You're planning

         12  for it. Okay.  Maybe there will be more questions

         13  about that.

         14                 In terms of the timetables from New

         15  Jersey and New Hampshire EDRS, have you learned what

         16  they are perhaps from going to some of the national

         17  meetings?

         18                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  What are their

         20  timetables?

         21                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Well, New

         22  Hampshire has a system now that doesn't meet

         23  national standards.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  It does or does

         25  not?
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          2                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  It does not.

          3  The New Hampshire system relies on the funeral

          4  directors entering the medical information.  That is

          5  a very serious deficiency that does not meet

          6  National Center for Health statistic standards.

          7  Funeral directors are not medically trained. Medical

          8  information should be entered by the medical

          9  certifier or staff at a hospital.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  And New

         11  Jersey? I know there was some discussion of it and

         12  we'll hear later, but just in terms of the timetable

         13  that you understand.

         14                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  New Jersey has a

         15  system that does not meet New York City's needs and

         16  our understanding is that today they have done

         17  training and the system is being used at the rate of

         18  one or two deaths a day.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Uh- huh.  Okay.

         20                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  A small number

         21  that we would not consider a success.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Council

         23  Member Quinn, I'll have more questions later, but go

         24  ahead.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I have a couple
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          2  of different questions in some different areas.

          3                 As it relates to the grant and New

          4  York City being picked as this national model, et

          5  cetera, you received a $500,000 grant to do all of

          6  this work, is that correct?

          7                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  The $500,000 is

          8  for this design phase, not all the work of

          9  establishing an EDRS.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  So, the

         11  $500,000 is going to be used by Grumman, et cetera,

         12  to do the design part of it?

         13                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  That mike may or

         15  may not be working, I'm not sure.  Apparently we're

         16  having some electrical challenges in the building at

         17  the moment.

         18                 Is $500,000 the sum total of what the

         19  actual design cost is going to be?

         20                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  The $500,000

         21  supplements New York City's commitment to the EDR

         22  system development.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I'm sorry, did I

         24  cut you off?  No?  Okay.  What is the department's

         25  financial -- could you give me a dollar that
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          2  corresponds with the department's commitment?  How

          3  much money has been allocated to this effort and how

          4  many people or, you know, what part of people's

          5  times?

          6                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Aside from the

          7  tremendous staff time that's been invested in the

          8  effort, the current proposal from Dynamic Services

          9  International is in the amount of $1.8 million in

         10  addition to -- for the actual development of the

         11  system.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Is the $1.8

         13  dollars something -- so that's what DOH is spending

         14  presently.  Is that right?

         15                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  That's the

         16  commitment to -- right, that's the amount necessary

         17  to build an EDR system.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  That's the amount

         19  that's needed -- so once you finish the $500,000

         20  work, so to speak, then we need $1.8 million to

         21  create whatever Grumman designs?

         22                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  If I was to go

         24  back to my office and look at the preliminary

         25  budget, that $1.8 million is in there?
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          2                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  In the current

          3  capital plan we have funding $500,000 in this fiscal

          4  year '03, 400,000 in fiscal year '04 and the balance

          5  is not yet allocated, and we'll be requesting

          6  additional allocations for completion.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And are you

          8  requesting the additional eight or $900,000 for --

          9  no, it's more than that, right?  No, you're right.

         10  Okay.  Are you requesting that additional $900,000

         11  for '04- 05 or are you requesting them for further

         12  out?

         13                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  I think a lot

         14  depends upon the progress of development once we

         15  have finished the design phase and a project plan is

         16  established for actual development of the system and

         17  we'll have a better sense as to whether it's '04 or

         18   '05 or further out.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And the design

         20  phase, I know you said in the testimony you

         21  anticipate that will be done when?

         22                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  By June of 2003.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  How will you be

         24  able to know as it relates to the budget process

         25  whether you need to request money for '04 or '05

                                                            34

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  since probably the budget will be done as you end or

          3  maybe even -- I mean, we've done it -- you know,

          4  we've come to an agreement in May before.  How will

          5  that work?  I guess it's clear from the line of my

          6  questioning that I'm concerned that given the real

          7  budget crisis we're in that this might be something

          8  that falls off the table.  And, you know, in the

          9  context of the cuts we're going to have to make,

         10  maybe we would all get in a room and say, you know,

         11  well, we have to put this off for a year or maybe we

         12  wouldn't, but I just want to kind of have a sense of

         13  what the real budget reality is so we know.

         14                 I'm not trying to fault you for that

         15  or anything, but I just want the committee to know

         16  whether this is something that's in and it's in and

         17  it's baseline.  Do you know what I mean?  And it's

         18  fully in there or not so we know going into the

         19  budget.  So, as we look at the array of cuts that

         20  are out there for the Department of Health and

         21  Mental Hygiene we can know where this is at and we

         22  can then all collaboratively factor it together.

         23                 So, all of that said, which is

         24  probably clear anyway, how's it going to work

         25  timingwise because you just -- it just may end up
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          2  that the engineers over at Grumman may not finish in

          3  enough time for you to put in a budget submission.

          4  How do you think that'll end up working

          5  logistically?

          6                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  I think first of

          7  all I just want to reiterate the comments made by

          8  Dr. Weisfuse in his testimony about our level of

          9  commitment to delivering the system.  I believe that

         10  we have enough money in the existing budget to move

         11  us along significantly.  I don't think there will be

         12  a short- term issue of having the required funding

         13  to proceed.  There will have to be discussions and

         14  we certainly appreciate participation and

         15  collaboration ensuring that it gets funded to its

         16  completion.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Given that the

         18  money that's in the budget now is for '04 and '05,

         19  would you then anticipate that in the best of all

         20  possible scenarios this wouldn't be completed 'til

         21  the end of fiscal year '05, which is July -- is June

         22  2006, right?  That's the right fiscal -- yeah, I

         23  think that's how it works, yeah.  I was looking for

         24  a finance person to confirm that I got the years

         25  right.  No, it's July '05.  I guess '05, '05.
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          2                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Our commitment

          3  is to deliver this system in two years.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  And

          5  whether you have 1.8 or 900.

          6                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  The commitment

          7  is to deliver the system in two years and if we are

          8  on track to do that, then we would need to find the

          9  necessary funding to complete the project.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Now, when you say

         11  deliver the system in two years, just so I

         12  understand, do you mean deliver a system that you

         13  would then submit to the federal government as a

         14  national model which then the feds could pick up and

         15  extend to the 50 states or whoever wanted it, I

         16  guess, or do you mean you're going to in two years

         17  have a system for New York City which will be

         18  implemented which you would also submit to the feds

         19  which they would do what they will with and should

         20  pay us for and then give us, you know, a cut on

         21  every state that takes it, which they won't, but

         22  that's a whole 'nother problem which was discussed

         23  in more depth yesterday in this room by the speaker,

         24  which do you mean, just so I know.

         25                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  May I answer?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Sure.  That's so

          3  polite of the Department of Health.

          4                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  We're on a very

          5  aggressive time schedule.  Developing the national

          6  model has to happen very quickly.  Our goal is

          7  actually to have the national model, which is only

          8  the first phase, but that national model has to be

          9  developed by June of this year

         10  for really important reasons.  That national model

         11  actually has -- serves two purposes.  One, it will

         12  be the national model that is proposed and will be

         13  freely available to any state or jurisdiction that

         14  wants it.  The second is it will also be a New York

         15  City specific model, so we are building both the

         16  national model -- it's a benefit to us to have

         17  colleagues from other states working with us, but we

         18  are asking our colleagues as well to help build the

         19  New York City specific model.

         20                 The reason June 2003 is important is

         21  there's a national meeting of all the states in

         22  June.  It happens to be in New York City.  It's very

         23  important for us to have this model delivered so

         24  that we can present it to all the states and that

         25  they will understand it.
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          2                 In addition, the Social Security

          3  Administration is going to be -- will come out with

          4  another round of RFPs soliciting states, encouraging

          5  states to build EDR systems.  We have committed to

          6  SSA to have this national model built so they will

          7  actually incorporate this model, being hosted by New

          8  York City, in SSA's RFP to encourage other states to

          9  adopt it.  That is to say, other states if they want

         10  to be successful in winning an award from SSA will

         11  have to meet this national model.

         12                 To amplify, though, that national

         13  model is not the whole system.  It's not the

         14  software.  What it will be is an unambiguous set of

         15  requirements for it so that a vendor can look at

         16  that and move to the next step, which is the design

         17  of the system itself and then finally writing the

         18  code to make the system work.  So, the actual system

         19  functioning is really two years away.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Not for nothing,

         21  but they're getting a lot from us for $500,000.

         22                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Not for nothing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  The feds.  I'm

         24  just saying that's an awful lot of work for

         25  $500,000, but they should give us a little more than
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          2  that.  But whatever.

          3                 So, at the end of the year you have

          4  these unambiguous requirements and then the

          5  engineers and computer folks spend a year making it

          6  and then after that it would be implemented.

          7                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Let me just ask

          9  one final question and then turn over to my

         10  colleagues.  If we're developing this national model

         11  but also a New York specific thing, if at the end of

         12  a year or two years, whichever is the appropriate

         13  point the feds decide, you know, we're not or can't

         14  or whatever go down this road, will we still go down

         15  the road of a New York City model?  And I ask that

         16  question 'cause in the testimony significant concern

         17  was raised about a state, you know, us being bigger

         18  than most states, our city doing something on its

         19  own.  So, if the feds back out, are we still going

         20  to do it even over the department's stated concerns

         21  about one large entity doing it themselves?

         22                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Absolutely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.

         24                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  We have funding

         25  from Social Security Administration to develop this
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          2  national model.  As I explained, that's proceeding

          3  and that's going to happen pretty quickly.  Then we

          4  will continue our work in developing our New York

          5  City specific model based on that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

          7    I should also say we've been joined by two of my

          8  colleagues from Brooklyn, Council Member Dr. Kendall

          9  Stewart, who's a member of the Health Committee, and

         10  Council Member Yvette Clark, who's also a member of

         11  the Health Committee.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

         13  Oddo, you had some questions?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you.

         15  Thank you, Chairwomen Quinn and Brewer.  Gentlemen,

         16  good morning.

         17                 Dr. Weisfuse, you did a very good job

         18  in your testimony in stressing the point of how

         19  complicated implementing this type of system is and

         20  has been, and I absolutely have a better

         21  appreciation for that after the testimony.  I have

         22  to say, though, on a procedural level, I'm just a

         23  bit taken aback by your comment and the testimony on

         24  page 5 that, "We will be unable to comment on the

         25  detail of past efforts."  It sort of takes the sight
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          2  out of oversight if years into this and perhaps

          3  millions of dollars into this process we can't ask

          4  about what happened and why we're here or what's

          5  taken so long to get where we are.  And I think all

          6  of us would have a whole lot more confidence in your

          7  ability to meet the two- year time line that you're

          8  stating if we had a better appreciation of what

          9  happened over the last decade.  Why is it that we

         10  can't question you about the Comptroller's report,

         11  former Comptroller, now State Comptroller's report,

         12  and why is it that you can't sort of sanitize the

         13  record on some of his claims?

         14                 DR. WEISFUSE:  As we stated, there is

         15  currently an ongoing audit of the prior history of

         16  our EDRS development.  That audit report will be

         17  public record. We'll share it with you.  We're

         18  cooperating with the auditors.  You know, I think

         19  that we have alluded to in our discussion the unique

         20  complexity of some of the issues, technical issues

         21  that we have had in the past number of years to get

         22  this going.  I think the technology has changed.

         23  The requirements have been very difficult to come up

         24  with, quite frankly, and this has really been a

         25  national problem.  I think the financial issues will
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          2  be circulated and we could have another hearing if

          3  that's what it takes at that point.  But I think in

          4  terms of the technical issues, I think the testimony

          5  reflects some of the problems that we've had in the

          6  past number of years and we'd be happy to give you

          7  further commentary or explanation of the range of

          8  those problems in getting to where we are today.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Fair enough.

         10  In the interest of sort of not looking back then,

         11  and there may be a more appropriate time to do that,

         12  let me just ask you two questions, one specific to

         13  the legislation and one more general.  I'll start

         14  with the more general.

         15                 Could you just briefly, any of the

         16  gentlemen at the table, walk through the process for

         17  me.  Right now if someone dies, and it's not a PC

         18  term but in outer borough -- let's take my borough,

         19  home Borough of Staten Island, if someone dies in

         20  Staten Island in a nursing home or a hospital, what

         21  the process is now and how this system succinctly

         22  enough -- how this system benefits my constituents.

         23                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  70% of the

         24  deaths in New York City occur in hospitals, so

         25  that's a good choice. Death occurs in the hospital.
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          2  The hospital administrator, essentially the

          3  hospital's responsible for completing the medical

          4  portion of the death certificate.  The death

          5  certificate has really two important pieces, the

          6  medical certification piece and then there's a

          7  funeral director piece that gives the exact time and

          8  date of death as well as the cause of death.

          9                 The death certificate has two very

         10  important functions in government and for families.

         11  It's civil registration and it's a public health

         12  data collection tool. So, cause of death

         13  information, the information that we have as a

         14  nation comes from this collective system of death

         15  registration.

         16                 A physician at the hospital will

         17  complete the death certificate, the cause of death

         18  information.  The funeral director is notified by

         19  the family.  A funeral director generally upon

         20  death, when the funeral director picks up the body,

         21  will also pick up that piece of paper, the death

         22  certificate.             The funeral director is

         23  responsible for completing that portion.  It's been

         24  signed by the physician.  The funeral director picks

         25  up the death certificate, that original paper death
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          2  certificate, goes back to the office, completes that

          3  and a licensed funeral director has to sign it.  The

          4  funeral director will take that piece of paper, that

          5  original document, as well as a form, a burial

          6  permit form, and take it to the Department of

          7  Health.

          8                 We now have two sites where that may

          9  be done, either in Brooklyn or in Manhattan.  The

         10  Manhattan site operates 24 hours a day.

         11                 The funeral director will take the

         12  death certificate, the burial permit and generally

         13  an application form for certified copies of death

         14  certificates.  Upon acceptance by the Department of

         15  Health, that piece of paper is date and time stamped

         16  and is assigned a certificate number.  We will then

         17  issue a burial permit at no charge to the funeral

         18  director.  It's a burial permit and it also is a

         19  permit for cremation or transportation.  And then

         20  the funeral director, acting as an agent of the

         21  family, will pay for certified copies.

         22                 Upon receipt of that payment the

         23  Health Department issues certified copies on the

         24  spot while the funeral director waits, to the

         25  funeral director.  They're available instantly.
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          2  Over 90% of the certified copies of death

          3  certificates are issued right there on the spot.

          4  The funeral director walks away with the burial

          5  permit and the certified copies of the death

          6  certificates which are immediately available to the

          7  family.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.  So, with

          9  an appreciation of the geography of the Chairpeople,

         10  this is a way of using technology, perhaps, to make

         11  government a little less Manhattan centric?  I mean,

         12  the essence is now my constituents or the industry

         13  doesn't have to schlep to Manhattan.

         14                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  That's a public

         15  health term.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  "Schlep to

         17  Manhattan." It's a term of art.  I learned it in law

         18  school, actually. Travel to Manhattan, and now can

         19  just simply be at his or her fingertips, transact

         20  this business.

         21                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  The

         22  current paper based system can be very efficient.

         23  It's clearly inefficient in terms of asking,

         24  requiring, really, a funeral director to physically

         25  bring the piece of paper to the Department of
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          2  Health.  If there's an error on that certificate,

          3  say caused by a physician, or on the physician's

          4  portion, the funeral director is not allowed to

          5  touch that portion of the certificate.  If it's a

          6  serious error, that funeral director will have to

          7  take that piece of paper, go back to find the

          8  physician, have the physician correct the error,

          9  possibly have to create a new death certificate.

         10  The funeral director would then have to complete his

         11  or her portion again and then resubmit it to the

         12  department.  So, clearly an electronic system will

         13  greatly improve the efficiency of that, so that's a

         14  fabulous benefit.

         15                 The other benefit is that an

         16  electronic system will have edits built into it

         17  right at the front end. So, not only will it be more

         18  efficient for everyone, but there's a tremendous

         19  benefit because there will be fewer errors, both on

         20  the part of the funeral director and the physician.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  One last

         22  question.  I happen to believe in the power of date-

         23  certain legislation. I watched the young then

         24  Council Member Vito Fosella introduce a seemingly

         25  innocuous bill about closing the Fresh Kills
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          2  landfill by a certain date and took off.  It really

          3  was establishing the date and working backwards that

          4  gave the momentum and put the feet under the fire of

          5  all the elected representatives.  I happen to be a

          6  believer in it.

          7                 My last question:  Is it that you

          8  folks oppose any type of legislation or just some of

          9  the specifics of this bill?

         10                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  If New York City

         11  were a follower in EDR system development, then you

         12  should be holding our feet to the fire.  But in

         13  fact, there isn't a system out there that would work

         14  in New York City and, in fact, is fully functioning

         15  and meets national standards. So, it's not there

         16  and, in fact, New York City has been selected to

         17  lead this effort.  We can't point to it in other

         18  jurisdictions and say may we have your system.  It's

         19  not there, so it has to be developed.

         20                 At this point it just doesn't seem

         21  appropriate at all.  When we developed our

         22  electronic birth certificate system, which was fully

         23  implemented in 1996, the Department of Health at

         24  that time implemented a health code amendment that

         25  made electronic birth certificates mandatory for
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          2  hospitals that register 100 or more births a year.

          3  So, we imposed, in a sense, a deadline on ourselves.

          4    We asked the Board of Health to put that into law

          5  and we met that deadline.

          6                 New York City at that time was not a

          7  leader in electronic birth certificate

          8  implementation.  Three dozen other states had done

          9  it before us, so it was proven technology and we

         10  were certain we could do it, and we did. This is

         11  much less certain.

         12                 At this point today the department is

         13  fully committed, as we hope we've made clear, and we

         14  have the commitment of our colleagues in other

         15  states as well as the federal government and the

         16  National Association for Public Health Statistics

         17  and Information Systems, which represents all the

         18  states.  At this point it would be premature to set

         19  that date.  Our commitment is that we're moving

         20  forward.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Gentlemen,

         22  thank you. Thank you, Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

         24  Sears.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair, and thank you for your testimony.

          3                 Just getting back to when Councilman

          4  Oddo talked about the study.  Now, I know that

          5  studies are done for one or two reasons or maybe

          6  even a little more.  One is to either affirm the

          7  direction that you're going into and how you proceed

          8  with that or to state the direction you are going

          9  into is not advisable and come up with several

         10  options.  If mitigating circumstances are

         11  appropriate, they also outline that.

         12                 I'm a little confused with the IBM

         13  study and the fact that it crashed and that there

         14  was no -- we don't now what came out of that.

         15  Either it had to direct you away from where you were

         16  going or it had to lead you into another avenue that

         17  doesn't depend on technology.  I think it depends on

         18  philosophically the direction you're going into and

         19  then what technology you may need in order to go in

         20  that direction.  So, maybe you could just clarify

         21  some of that for me?  If it's possible.

         22                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  I think that,

         23  also echoing Dr. Weisfuse's testimony, that the IBM

         24   -- we learned quite a bit from the IBM effort, even

         25  though it did not result in a successful deployment
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          2  of a system.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I understand

          4  that.

          5                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Clearly the

          6  lessons learned contributed in a major way in the

          7  current decision to ask New York City to serve as a

          8  model for development, I think in part because of

          9  the amount of time and attention. Our past

         10  experiences have actually set us apart from other

         11  jurisdictions.  Not only have other jurisdictions

         12  not delivered systems but, you know, we have spent a

         13  lot of time thinking about them in attempting to do

         14  so, and so I think that that helped and has actually

         15  contributed in a significant way in terms of

         16  understanding where we need to go going forward.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Did that

         18  contribute in a way that strengthened and determined

         19  the direction that you would be going in?  Because

         20  studies cost a lot of money. And the ambiguities

         21  that you talked about -- and before you even issued

         22  an RFP, what did you do or what did the department

         23  do in order to remove what was probably not

         24  advisable to do, that would set you -- and why you

         25  were selected in that major, major tertiary
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          2  direction?  That's what I'm getting at, what is your

          3  main focus that came out of that study to either be

          4  unfocused or strengthen your focus and go on from

          5  there?

          6                 Because I recognize, I'm cognizant of

          7  the complexities of this, but I also know that what

          8  we have today, and my next question will come in on

          9  exactly how you

         10  deal with corrections to these certificates, but

         11  this is a very time consuming thing and it's going

         12  to take several years before it's implemented.  In

         13  the meantime, we have a system that is very

         14  cumbersome.  We have a system that deals with

         15  corrections to death certificates that is enormously

         16  time consuming and people can wait months and months

         17  for death certificates to be corrected.  That, to

         18  me, is a major problem, particularly when we have

         19  intercountries and international countries and we're

         20  dealing with these death certificates.

         21                 The system right now is very

         22  troublesome, very difficult, and while we're going

         23  through this enormous time of technology and

         24  implementing a system and another study period and

         25  RFPs, is there something that you basically can do
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          2  now to alleviate some of what is really a very

          3  cumbersome situation?   I would have to say that for

          4  the families, for the families who are put through a

          5  great deal of anxiety in waiting for death

          6  certificates to be corrected or going from one part

          7  to another in order to get them.

          8                 You know, I know it goes on and on,

          9  but there must be something that could put a dent in

         10  what is being done to alleviate this, recognizing

         11  that your main avenue is the technology.

         12                 DR. WEISFUSE:  You made some very

         13  good points.  What we tried to outline in the

         14  testimony was about five or six things that we have

         15  done already to improve the death certificate

         16  process and I think they have made some significant

         17  improvements. But you're specifically asking about

         18  issues regarding corrections that I'd like Dr.

         19  Schwartz to handle that.

         20                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Two very

         21  important functions that the Health Department

         22  provides, that are responsible for, the registration

         23  of deaths and providing certified copies, and then

         24  correcting and amending those records as necessary.

         25                 An electronic death registration
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          2  system will not solve all the problems.  Right now

          3  we receive basically two major categories of

          4  corrections or amendments to death records.  There

          5  are what we call a straight death correction, a

          6  simple correction to -- there's an error or a piece

          7  of information that's missing from a certificate.

          8  And then there are also medical examiner amendments

          9  when a, say someone dies, it's a medical examiner

         10  case and the cause of death or the manner of death,

         11  that is whether it was an accident, suicide,

         12  homicide or natural cause, is not known at that

         13  time.

         14                 So, a death certificate is filed and

         15  there are certified copies of the death certificate

         16  issued but the cause of death and the manner of

         17  death may say "pending further study."  That

         18  determination is then made by the Medical Examiner's

         19  Office which is not instantaneous.  The Medical

         20  Examiner's Office may respond to this, but the

         21  Medical Examiner's Office has to make a medical,

         22  legal determination as to the cause and manner of

         23  that death. Sometimes that takes weeks or perhaps

         24  months.

         25                 In the case of World Trade Center
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          2  death certificates, which this department issued

          3  instantaneously and worked round the clock doing

          4  that, many of the medical examiners -- they were all

          5  medical examiner cases, and many of those death

          6  certificates are being amended today as World Trade

          7  Center victims' remains are being found.  But the

          8  certificate of death was issued right away and then

          9  it's amended.

         10                 We have about 4,000 medical examiner

         11  amendments each year and those -- the family first

         12  has to wait for the medical examiner to complete its

         13  medical, legal determination and then it's submitted

         14  to the Department of Health for finalization.  Right

         15  now our process, we feel, is taking too long to get

         16  those certificates out.  Our normal turnaround time

         17  with corrections and amendments runs about 30 to 45

         18  days, and that's what it takes for a straight death

         19  correction, a simple correction on a death

         20  certificate.             Medical examiner

         21  amendments, through no fault of the Medical

         22  Examiner's Office, it's the Health Department, our

         23  office has to improve on that and we do have plans

         24  to do that.  We can do that now, we don't need an

         25  electronic -- an electronic system will help but we
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          2  can be working today improving that.  We understand

          3  your concern and it's an important one.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you very

          5  much for that.

          6                 Just one final question:  On this

          7  process are you meeting with the funeral directors

          8  on a continuous basis to get their input?  Because

          9  ultimately you are the ones that are going to make

         10  the decision and finalize what has to be finalized.

         11  But I would think that for those who have to go

         12  through this system, have to go through the process

         13  that has been created for them, it could be very

         14  helpful understanding the time constraints,

         15  understanding the complexities, understanding the

         16  myriad of agencies that are involved in this, they

         17  still probably could give some helpful advice on

         18  just how this is being developed.  Does this happen?

         19                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  It does, and it

         20  should happen more and we will schedule more

         21  meetings with them. We do seek their advice and we

         22  work with them, for example, when we developed the

         23  new death certificate form which was

         24  implemented January 1st with the approval of the

         25  Board of Health.  We did work with the funeral
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          2  directors, hospitals and the Medical Examiner's

          3  Office on developing that new form of death

          4  certificate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.  I

          8  have a couple of low- tech questions and high- tech

          9  questions.

         10                 On the low tech, picking up on

         11  Council Member Sears, I know that the bill called

         12  for this and we'd certainly love to help do it, but

         13  would -- I know you had an official advisory

         14  committee.  Is that something that you would

         15  institute regularly?  I know, for instance -- last

         16  night when I was there for two and a half or three

         17  hours, I did ask individuals who were waiting in

         18  line, and we could talk about on the low tech in a

         19  minute, that if they had been consulted, you know,

         20  sort of like a random selection, asked questions,

         21  and they hadn't, they felt.

         22                 I was just wondering, do you have

         23  plans for an official advisory board that would

         24  meet, certainly, during this two- year process, if

         25  not thereafter?
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          2                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  And, in

          3  fact, we do have an advisory committee that is

          4  comprised of funeral directors and hospital

          5  representatives as well as the Medical Examiner's

          6  Office.  It hasn't met in a while.  It was certainly

          7  postponed after 9/11.  We met again May 31st of

          8  2002.  We did have a meeting scheduled for the end

          9  of June of 2002.  In fact, we had to cancel that

         10  meeting because our participants canceled on us and

         11  there weren't enough advisory committee members to

         12  have that.  Then we did not have another meeting.

         13  We will resume those.  Advisory committees are very

         14  helpful.  We learn from them.  There's a benefit.

         15  We are committed to working with them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The other

         17  correction issue.  Based on your work on the

         18  national front, I have a question.  The funeral

         19  directors and messengers, last night I learned all

         20  about this small sample, that they were saying that

         21  the doctors, particularly in the paper system, are

         22  hard to track down when they make a mistake.  I'm

         23  wondering, in terms of those states, New Jersey and

         24  others that have at least on a pilot effort

         25  correction systems with doctors, is it, I would
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          2  think it is, but is it enhanced with the electronic

          3  system?  Is it easier to get the doctors to make the

          4  corrections on an efficient basis?  Is that

          5  something that's come up?

          6                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  Though I

          7  can understand that most people are probably hard to

          8  track down when they make a mistake.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.  But I

         10  think doctors are more difficult than funeral

         11  directors to track down.

         12                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Well --

         14                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Well, the

         15  tremendous benefit of an electronic system is that

         16  it will prevent a lot of mistakes.  That's really

         17  the key here, is that if there are -- some common

         18  errors would be, a glaringly common error would be

         19  if the physician left off the date of death. So, the

         20  funeral director should be doing his or her job and

         21  look at the certificate before he or she takes it

         22  away. That doesn't always happen.  We talked to

         23  funeral directors, too, and, in fact, recently we

         24  had a survey form, a customer survey form for all

         25  the funeral directors at both our Manhattan and
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          2  Brooklyn burial desks.  So, we do try to get input

          3  from them.

          4                 In the case of trying to prevent

          5  errors, that's the most important thing.  And today,

          6  if you talk to some funeral directors they really do

          7  pay attention to that and they'll say, some funeral

          8  directors will say they don't have certificates

          9  rejected because they're proud of saying that they

         10  really check the work of the physician before they

         11  leave the hospital.  That should never change.  And

         12  the funeral directors are the experts.  They are the

         13  full- time professionals working in this industry,

         14  so they're the ones who see the death certificates

         15  all the time.

         16                 One of the aspects of electronic

         17  death registration that is challenging is they

         18  physicians fill out death certificates and they

         19  haven't been trained how to do it.  An EDR system

         20  will provide tools electronically to walk a

         21  physician or funeral director through using it.  But

         22  right now there are 40,000 physicians in New York

         23  City.  They didn't go to school to learn how to fill

         24  out a death certificate.  They will make mistakes.

         25  An EDR system will definitely prevent that.       A
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          2  funeral director has to be very aware of it.

          3                 In direct response to your question,

          4  physicians can be hard to track down.  An EDR system

          5  will make it easier because that EDR system will be

          6  internet based.  It will be accessible from

          7  anywhere, so that physician, who may have moved to

          8  another hospital or gone to his or her office, could

          9  actually sign on from an office or another physical

         10  location and could complete that death certificate

         11  or even an amendment prior to filing the

         12  certificate.  So, an electronic system would

         13  definitely enhance that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  When you

         15  did your survey were there any surprising pieces of

         16  information?  Of course, on the low- tech side, and

         17  this probably wasn't questioned in the survey, in

         18  the next two years before we have this electronic

         19  system, parking seemed to be the main issue on Worth

         20  Street.  Is that something that came out of the

         21  survey or has come out of any discussion on the low-

         22  tech side?

         23                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And is there any

         25  possibility of a few parking spaces at Worth Street?
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          2                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Is the Council

          3  Member offering a parking space?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I don't have a

          5  car and I take Metro, as they say.  I was asking

          6  gentlemen, and they were all gentlemen, if Metro was

          7  a possibility, meaning the subway, and they pointed

          8  out that they work in the Bronx and they live in

          9  Hempstead, so they were driving.  I just throw that

         10  out, as you've heard, a main concern.

         11                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  Well, our

         12  response to that was to open a second burial desk.

         13  We understand parking really is a problem.  There is

         14  ample parking at our new Bedford office, which we

         15  opened in November, and almost instantly we've had

         16  20% of the deaths now registered in Brooklyn.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And has that

         18  computer system worked out?  I know there were some

         19  glitches between Manhattan and the Brooklyn system

         20  at one point?

         21                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  It's actually

         22  not completely.  It's a new system.  We needed to

         23  implement an electronic system.  It used to be

         24  completely manual.  We implemented an electronic

         25  system so we could actually have two burial desks
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          2  functioning simultaneously and issuing consecutive

          3  numbers.  That is actually helping us in EDR

          4  development because we would have needed that

          5  electronic numbering of the certificates, but it's

          6  also caused our process to be slower right now

          7  because we have to do key entry we didn't have to do

          8  before and the system does not move as quickly as

          9  the old manual numbering system.  And we've talked

         10  to funeral directors about that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Can I just

         12  interrupt? Just on the parking, I just want to throw

         13  this out to think about, in the middle of the night

         14  probably some of the spots that are reserved behind

         15  125 Worth Street for the Department of Health and

         16  Mental Hygiene and HHC staff are probably vacant.

         17  I'm at least hoping that Commissioner Frieden and

         18  President Chu are not frequently in their office at

         19  3:00 in the morning.  Knowing them, they might be,

         20  but I'm hoping at least on a regular basis that they

         21  and the other senior staff leave, so there might be.

         22                 I have no doubt that Fran is there

         23  responding to all my letters at like 3:00 in the

         24  morning.  But there might be, I'm not saying

         25  necessarily the Commissioner's spot, but there might
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          2  be some spots that are vacant in the back that are

          3  staff spots, the same with maybe we could have a

          4  conversation with the courts where, say, from 9 p.m.

          5  Until 5:00 in the morning those spots could be used

          6  by funeral directors or their delegates or whatever,

          7  who were going in for something like this.

          8                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  That's actually

          9  the practice today.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Oh, it is,

         11  okay.

         12                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  And our busiest

         13  shift is 4 p.m. To midnight.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I'm sure it's

         15  true. I saw everybody's wives within their car and

         16  van last night because they're afraid of getting

         17  $105 ticket.  We need to make that clear to people.

         18  I went out and talked with the wives in the cars and

         19  they were definitely waiting to be sure that there

         20  was no officer available for a $105 ticket.

         21  That's something to think about.

         22                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  We'll look into

         23  that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I really

         25  think it would be great, and maybe during the day
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          2  two or three, because people are obviously coming at

          3  night.  Maybe that's better for traffic and for you

          4  staff allotment and so on, and your staff is praised

          5  heavily, the three individuals who were there last

          6  night, by the way.  Very competent and liked.

          7                 The other question I have is just in

          8  terms of the digital signatures.  I know this is a

          9  problem for the city as a whole but I was just

         10  wondering how you would handle that.  I assume

         11  payments would be done similar to, you know, parking

         12  violations and other situations, same type of

         13  operation.  But just in terms of the digitized

         14  signatures, how would you handle that?

         15                 REGISTRAR SCHWARTZ:  We're currently

         16  exploring options for security.  One of those

         17  options is the implementation of an actual digital

         18  certificate.  We would certainly, and we've had

         19  discussions with the Department of Information

         20  Technology and Telecommunications about a citywide

         21  standard for digital certificates.  There is not

         22  currently a standard or current deployment centrally

         23  for citywide digital certificates.  If through our

         24  security requirements analysis it's determined that

         25  digital certificates will be part of the security
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          2  solution, in the absence of a standard, we will

          3  proceed and implement digital certificates.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Council Member

          5  Reed has joined us from Manhattan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  And the Bronx.

          7  My colleague, Jimmy Oddo, might be back and I want

          8  him to recognize that I'm not just the Manhattan

          9  guy.

         10                 Thank you, Madam Chair, both of you.

         11  I'm sorry to have been delayed.  I was listening in

         12  the back and trying to understand this complicated

         13  issue.  My friend, George Weldon, has made sure that

         14  I'm aware of the concerns that are being raised.  I

         15  think there's a lot of valid points that both sides

         16  are making.  I was struck with what you said,

         17  Doctor, that there were 4,000 amendments a year and

         18  I'm trying to put that in perspective.  I imagine

         19  that an amendment is a correction or is there a

         20  distinction there that we ought to make?

         21                 DR. WEISFUSE:  I was specifically

         22  referring to an amendment on a medical examiner's

         23  certificate where initially the death certificate is

         24  filed by the Medical Examiner's Office and the cause

         25  or manner of death is marked pending further study
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          2  and then later when the medical, legal determination

          3  is made by that office they will then amend that

          4  record and issue a new death certificate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  But that's

          6  different than a correction.

          7                 DR. WEISFUSE:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  So, to put that

          9  in some scale, that's 4,000 out of how many?

         10                 DR. WEISFUSE:  We receive about

         11  35,000 correction amendment applications a year,

         12  mostly for birth certificates.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I think I meant

         14  how many overall death certificates, certificates of

         15  death. You're saying you're amending.  There's 4,000

         16  amendments to the certificate of death, right?

         17                 DR. WEISFUSE:  There are 61,000

         18  deaths in New York City a year.  Some death

         19  certificates are amended more than once.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  That's a better

         21  idea of what I'm trying to understand here.

         22                 What percentage of these come through

         23  clean, so to speak, and there are no problems with

         24  the process, the doctor hasn't made a mistake, the

         25  funeral director hasn't made a mistake, it just sort
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          2  of works its way through the process and it's all

          3  fine?

          4                 I guess what I'm trying to do is

          5  understand the size of the problem that you're

          6  concerned about, making sure that we have the proper

          7  record.  So, is that 10% of all the certificates of

          8  death that go through the city system a year, is it

          9  15?

         10                 DR. WEISFUSE:  Out of the 61,000

         11  deaths filed every year we receive about 4,000

         12  medical examiner amendments and about 1800 other

         13  death certificate amendments, so it's less than 10%

         14  of all the death certificates are amended or

         15  corrected.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  All right.  Any

         17  other questions?

         18                 The very final is, so we're talking

         19  about June 2005 with a system, picking up on Council

         20  Member Oddo's Fresh Kills' analysis?  The notion is

         21  that by that point we will have a national model

         22  that is pertinent to New York City.  Is that what

         23  you're saying?

         24                 DR. WEISFUSE:  Actually, our

         25  commitment is June 2004.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

          3                 DR. WEISFUSE:  And then our goal for

          4  that is to have completed the design and creation of

          5  an electronic death registration system and to have

          6  begun implementation.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, 2004 is not

          8  just ME, it's the whole system, is that what you're

          9  saying?

         10                 DR. WEISFUSE:  That's correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So, 2004, June,

         12  we have that Council Member Quinn?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Any other

         15  questions?  No.  Thank you very, very much.  We look

         16  forward to working with you.

         17                 Okay.  Panel Two is Maryann Carroll,

         18  who's Director of Government and Public Affairs for

         19  Metropolitan Funeral Directors Association and the

         20  New Jersey State Funeral Directors Association;

         21  Robert Ruggiero, who's Metropolitan Funeral

         22  Directors Association Board Member and President of

         23  F. Ruggiero & Sons, Inc. In the Bronx; and Martin

         24  Kasdan, who's Metropolitan Funeral Directors

         25  Association Secretary- Treasurer and President of
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          2  Schwartz Brothers- Jeffer Memorial Chapel in Queen;

          3  and Pamela Akison, Ph.D., who's Public Health

          4  Information Systems consultant.

          5                 Good morning.  Maryann Carroll,

          6  you're going to begin.  Go right ahead.

          7                 MS. CARROLL:  Councilwoman Brewer,

          8  you mentioned also my affiliation with the New

          9  Jersey State Funeral Directors.  I serve as a staff

         10  member for both Metropolitan Funeral Directors,

         11  representing funeral homes in New York City, but

         12  it's also important that you know that I'm

         13  affiliated with the New Jersey State Funeral

         14  Directors Association because I have intimate

         15  knowledge of the Health Department's, the New Jersey

         16  State Health Department's electronic death

         17  registration systems beta test that has been

         18  enormously successful.

         19                 I also have intimate knowledge of

         20  legislation that's moving rapidly in the State

         21  Legislature that we are very optimistic will be

         22  signed by the Governor this spring that mandates

         23  electronic death registration within 18 months of

         24  enactment of the bill.  I worked on drafting that

         25  legislation in conjunction with the Health
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          2  department that fully supports it.  Also with the

          3  bill's sponsors.  And that particular bill has the

          4  support of all the users involved, the League of

          5  Municipalities, the Hospital Association, the

          6  doctors hospice and funeral directors.

          7                 I would just like to communicate that

          8  what's going on in New Jersey has the full support

          9  of all the professionals as well as the Health

         10  Department in New Jersey.

         11                 In order to be succinct, I will be as

         12  quick as I can, but what I'd like to do is introduce

         13  you to our association, talk to you about why we're

         14  supporting this legislation and encourage you to

         15  release this bill from committee today and respond

         16  to about 20, what I would characterize as

         17  misrepresentations or misunderstandings of the

         18  Health Department.  I will do my best to not be

         19  perceived as antagonistic, but rather present to you

         20  my view of some of the ongoing problems at the

         21  Health Department and also the failure of the Health

         22  Department in completing electronic death

         23  registration in the last eight years.

         24                 Just so you know, Metropolitan

         25  Funeral Directors is a private trade association.
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          2  Membership is voluntary, however we do represent

          3  approximately 50% of all the funerals conducted in

          4  the city.  Our members range from the mom and pop

          5  operation that's on a corner in Brooklyn to the

          6  prestigious funeral home on Madison Avenue that

          7  serves the rich and famous.  Our members serve a

          8  diversity of families and a variety of socioeconomic

          9  classes as well as ethnic groups.  We also represent

         10  funeral homes that are family owned as well as owned

         11  by publicly- traded corporations.  90% of our

         12  members are owned by family members or family

         13  businesses.  Less than 10% of our membership is

         14  owned by businesses managed by publicly- traded

         15  corporations.

         16                 I think that's important because our

         17  membership really represents a diversity of funeral

         18  homes serving a diversity of families in New York.

         19  So, we certainly have a sense of the needs of

         20  bereaved families across the city.

         21                 Also here today you'll be hearing

         22  from Vicki Thompson.  She represents the leading New

         23  York Citywide African- American funeral directors

         24  association, the Brooklyn & Long Island Funeral

         25  Directors Association.  That association strongly
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          2  supports this bill and also strongly supports

          3  mandated EDRS as we do for all users.

          4                 The reason we're so enthusiastic

          5  about this legislation is because there are extreme

          6  problems at the Health Department.  These problems

          7  have been perpetuated for as long as I've been

          8  affiliated with funeral service for the last eight

          9  years.  In the last several years they have really

         10  become more extreme.

         11                 What I'm talking about is service to

         12  professionals like funeral directors that also

         13  service to bereaved families because there are

         14  excessive delays, as you mentioned, in processing

         15  corrections in death certificates. EDRS is going to

         16  streamline the process for obtaining death

         17  certificates.  Certainly it's going to help these

         18  bereaved families.  But on a good note and something

         19  you don't often hear, especially with the city's

         20  budget crisis, is we believe EDRS is actually going

         21  to save the city money.  So, I think this is good

         22  news, and I do believe that this can be done without

         23  any out- of- pocket expenses to the city.  I'll

         24  provide you some testimony on what I perceive as the

         25  real economics here for electronic death
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          2  registration.

          3                 Really, the bill basics is that we

          4  think this is necessary, unlike the Health

          5  Department, because we do believe that some

          6  accountability has to be brought to this project.

          7  We have to see a defined time line because the city,

          8  and I'll review our handout, they have just missed a

          9  series of time parameters, the last one, which was

         10  1997, that EDRS was going to be up and running by

         11  1997, which they missed.

         12                 This project can be self- funding and

         13  it must be mandatory.  It must be mandatory because

         14  pursuing an electronic death registration system

         15  that's not mandatory for all users really is doomed

         16  for failure.  You're going to have a mix of paper

         17  and electronic certificate that really isn't going

         18  to solve what's going on at the Health Department.

         19  I'm not really here to criticize the Health

         20  Department.  I do believe there's some kind and

         21  decent and hard working people at the Health

         22  Department, but they're working within a system that

         23  is archaic and dysfunctional.

         24  The only way to fix the system at 125 Worth Street,

         25  where the barrel desk is, is to replace it.  It's

                                                            74

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  just that simple.

          3                 What I'd like to do is just go

          4  through one by one as what I perceive as the

          5  mischaracterizations of the Health Department and

          6  just to bring some perspective that I can offer as

          7  an outside observer as well as somebody that's

          8  affiliated with another funeral service association.

          9                 The characterize New Jersey's

         10  electronic death registration system as a failure.

         11  That's incorrect. In fact, there's some New Jersey

         12  representatives here to testify as well.  What New

         13  Jersey has done is beta test a basic system.  They

         14  have tested it basically training hospitals and

         15  funeral directors and local registrars within a

         16  specific geographic area, and that beta test has

         17  gone very well.

         18                 As I said the legislation that's

         19  going to create a mandatory electronic death

         20  certificate, once signed by Governor James McGreevey

         21  this spring, will really be the impetus for

         22  completing the rest of the project.  We do believe

         23  New Jersey's progress so far is monumental and

         24  they've done a great job.

         25                 Two, the city could not comment on
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          2  their lack of the electronic death registration

          3  product in the past. What I can tell you is that,

          4  and it was noted that the IBM project was an

          5  exploration, or I forget Councilwoman Sears, how she

          6  characterized it, but it was not a study.  IBM's

          7  contract was to produce an electronic death

          8  certificate and they didn't.

          9                 I would like to refer you just to our

         10  handout.  I believe -- does everyone have our

         11  handout? Great.

         12                 We're here.  If I can refer you to

         13  page 10 and 11 of our handout.  This all started

         14  because in 1994. Actually in May of 1994 the Health

         15  Department announced they were closing all the outer

         16  borough offices that serve funeral directors and

         17  they were only going to have one location, 125 Worth

         18  Street.  In addition, at that time, too, Comptroller

         19  Hevesi discovered a number of items that were

         20  mismanaged including the depositing of checks for

         21  death certificates.

         22                 We reached out to the city and said,

         23   "You can't close the outer borough offices.

         24  Funeral directors need those facilities."  They

         25  said, "We can't help you, we're in a budget crisis."
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          2    "But you can help us if you give us the solution."

          3    So, at that point in time we said, "Okay, New York

          4  City, we're going to suggest that you create an

          5  electronic death registration system and on top of

          6  that we'll offer to help put it together."

          7                 On page 11 you'll find our proposal,

          8  the Coalition for Electronic Death Registration,  We

          9  went so far as to explore the technology available

         10  and put together at our own expense of over $60,000

         11  a feasibility study.  While the city appreciated

         12  that they turned us down and said we can do it

         13  ourselves.  That was over eight or almost nine years

         14  ago now.

         15                 If I could refer you also to the

         16  letters from the Mayor's Officer of Operations on

         17  page 13, 14 and 15 of our handout, there are

         18  communications to our organizations from various

         19  executives in the Mayor's office including the

         20  directors at that time in Giuliani's first

         21  administration. They indicated that formalized

         22  processing, I might have misstated, was supposed to

         23  have been completed by January 1st of 1999.  You'll

         24  see that in the action plan submitted by Alan Dobran

         25  on November 17th, 1997. Obviously, they missed that
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          2  time line.

          3                 Then finally, the city had asked us

          4  for a number of comments on their regulations as

          5  they pertain to death certification processing for

          6  funeral directors.  We submitted a series of

          7  comments on changes that would make it easier for

          8  funeral directors and families in processing death

          9  certificates.  You'll find those comments starting

         10  on page 16.  Virtually 99% of those comments we

         11  submitted were not considered and not incorporated

         12  into the regulation that allows for electronic death

         13  registration.

         14                 The reason I'm defining this all for

         15  you is because we've made ourselves accessible,

         16  tried to provide a knowledge base for the city to

         17  make electronic death registration happen and

         18  certainly I just wanted to show you our frustrations

         19  in the lack of progress the city has made to date.

         20                 Another mischaracterization was that

         21  other states don't have EDRS.  There are a variety

         22  of states that are also pursuing legislation, that

         23  are in the process of beta testing.  It's a real

         24  mix, but other states are working on it.  There are

         25  some states that have electronic death registration,
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          2  but maybe not in the format that we'd like to see.

          3  It is happening across the country.

          4                 One thing that we're very passionate

          5  about in terms of this legislation is that the

          6  Health Department said a password is not sufficient

          7  means for authentication. Really, if you think about

          8  it, a funeral director and a doctor, they're not

          9  secret agents working for an intelligence agency.

         10  They're licensed professionals that are licensed by

         11  the State of New York to conduct business. The city

         12  should be able to rely on that license to use when

         13  processing death certificates and don't need some

         14  sort of complicated system to complete the death

         15  certificate. Really, that's going to

         16  be an obstacle in this whole process if funeral

         17  directors have to use some sort convoluted process

         18  as well as doctors.

         19                 As I said, the accountability issue

         20  is certainly important.  We do believe that the

         21  progress the city's making with Social Security and

         22  the development of the national model can be done

         23  simultaneously with the city's development, and that

         24  should not hinder the progress going forward.

         25                 One comment on the opening of the
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          2  second location of the Brooklyn burial desk.  While

          3  the funeral directors are certainly grateful for

          4  that, we wrote the Health Department when they had

          5  opened another location in Harlem to respond to

          6  vital records processing after 9/11 and asked the

          7  Commissioner and Mr. Schwartz to maintain that

          8  office and they didn't.  But we're glad that they

          9  did open a second location in December.

         10  Unfortunately, I think as Council Member Brewer

         11  alluded to, the opening of that office, while it's

         12  being used by 20% of the funeral directors out

         13  there, has created extensive time delays both at

         14  that office and at Worth Street, anywhere from an

         15  additional one to four- hour wait because of a

         16  shared computer system that all it does is issue

         17  numbers so they're not duplicated between the

         18  offices.  That's gone on since early December.  So,

         19  while that is an improvement, it has also created

         20  additional problems.

         21                 Another item that we did have input

         22  on was the new death certificate that's being used

         23  by the City of New York effective January 1st and,

         24  while we're pleased that we were asked to

         25  participate in examining that certificate when it
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          2  was being drafted, the Health Department only

          3  provided funeral directors and hospitals less than

          4  11 days to obtain those death certificates prior to

          5  mandated use. So, that was a bit frustrating for us.

          6                 In regards to the bill itself, I

          7  believe the Assistant Commissioner referred to the

          8  City Charter and felt that the Charter was

          9  sufficient to not really mandate this legislation

         10  going forward, but I do believe that this

         11  legislation's going to define a number of things

         12  necessary to make the bill happen.

         13                 One item that I think is very

         14  important and I don't want to belabor it, but it was

         15  mentioned that the correction delays in the Health

         16  Department are averaging 30 to 45 days.  The reality

         17  is that corrections are averaging three to six

         18  months.  I know of cases that have taken longer than

         19  a year.  So, there are existing problems that are

         20  really dramatic and affecting families.

         21                 My last comment, too, is Mr. Schwartz

         22  alluded to that EDRS won't solve all the problems.

         23  EDRS will absolutely solve all the problems.  No

         24  more waits for families, no more funeral directors

         25  tracking physicians around the city.  The city will
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          2  have immediate death data. It really will just

          3  streamline the process and make a great difference

          4  for everyone involved.

          5                 In terms of the economics, I've heard

          6  numbers tossed around that I read in the "New York

          7  Times" articles and heard from former Comptroller

          8  Hevesi.  I don't think it matters what was spent.

          9  We all know that a lot of money has been spent

         10  anywhere, it's been documented, from three to $10

         11  million and the city doesn't have a work product.

         12  But we want to see the city move forward on this.  I

         13  do know a couple of numbers.  The city receives

         14  approximately a little over $11 million each year

         15  from the Vital Records Department, but spends less

         16  than 20% on revenue.  The city also receives over

         17  $500,000 annually for their vital records data from

         18  the federal government.  Currently it costs $15 for

         19  a consumer to purchase one copy of the death

         20  certificate which may be raised according to the

         21  current budget proposal to $20 apiece.

         22                 What's key here is how are we going

         23  to pay for electronic death registration and why --

         24  the Mayor's office in the last administration did

         25  commit that this money would come from technology.
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          2  We do understand the budget crisis and this

          3  legislation does allow the Health Department,

          4  through regulation, to enact fees to cover this

          5  system.  Those fees will be very minor in comparison

          6  to the huge consumer benefit.  Based on our

          7  calculations if a per death transaction fee of $10

          8  per death were charged, that would generate a little

          9  over $610,000 a year.  That would be more than

         10  sufficient to cover annual operating costs and also

         11  be more than sufficient to cover any of the

         12  additional capital outlays that would have to be

         13  provided for before EDRS implementation.

         14                 The reason I say that is because of

         15  what New Jersey is doing.  In their legislation

         16  they're basically going to be charging a $10 fee per

         17  death in New Jersey it's a fair comparison because

         18  they have about 75,000 deaths annually.  That budget

         19  on an annual basis will not only provide for the

         20  management of the system in New Jersey, but it's

         21  also going to fund a full- time 24 hour, 365 day a

         22  year help desk so physicians and doctors that need

         23  assistance

         24  can get it.  The one caveat in New Jersey, because

         25  New Jersey's also experiencing difficult fiscal
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          2  times, the Health Department asked in the

          3  legislative process that that fee be implemented

          4  upon enactment of the bill.  So, the fee could be

          5  generated immediately to cover any of the additional

          6  capital expenses.  We would support that as ell. We

          7  think it's very reasonable.  We believe funeral

          8  directors and consumers would support it because the

          9  overall benefit of improved customer service is just

         10  greatly needed.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.  Mr.

         12  Ruggiero.  We thank Dr. Schwartz from the Department

         13  of Health for remaining.

         14                 MR. RUGGIERO:  Good morning, ladies

         15  and gentlemen.  Thank you for inviting us here.  I

         16  appreciate the time you've afforded us to explain

         17  our situation.

         18                 My position before I introduce Mr.

         19  Kasdan is to bring a human element into this.  We

         20  heard about EDRS. We heard about death certificates,

         21  the permits, the parking issue.  We're talking about

         22  someone's life.  Their entire existence on this

         23  earth is reduced to this piece of paper. Mrs. Smith

         24  exists solely on one sheet of 8 1/2 by 14 piece of

         25  paper.  What I want to do is paint a picture for you
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          2  of what funeral service is like, unlike the

          3  Hollywood version that we see on "Six Feet Under"

          4  which I'm sure most of us have watched every now and

          5  then.  No?  No, it's not true, "Six Feet Under."   I

          6  just want to pass through the details of what went

          7  on in my office yesterday and the complications

          8  involved.

          9                 Sunday night Alitalia forgot to load

         10  a casket onto an aircraft that was destined for

         11  Rome.  Oh, no big problem, we'll send it off on

         12  Monday.  The problem was the woman that passed away

         13  was a noted opera singer who came from a very small

         14  region in Italy and of a community of about 350

         15  people the church was packed with 800 of them

         16  waiting for the funeral service because in Italy

         17  their custom is to take the remains from the airport

         18  to the church, go through the religious service and

         19  then have an immediate burial.  Alitalia missed the

         20  flight and so the brunt of that responsibility fell

         21  back on my office yesterday.

         22                 Last week a young man named Eric, a

         23  young ten year old, an avid sportsman, needed to be

         24  from one cemetery to another because in 1983 Eric

         25  chased the ball into the street and nature took its
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          2  course.  His dad finally retired and asked us to

          3  move the boy from one cemetery to another. The paper

          4  chase with the cemetery and the attorneys was a

          5  little longer than we had anticipated and not

          6  realizing it, when we went to Calvary Cemetery last

          7  week to move the boy, the man says to me at the

          8  office at Calvary Cemetery, "You're not going

          9  anywhere, your permit's expired."  This is 1:00 on

         10  Thursday afternoon.  I need to be in New Jersey by

         11  three.  The burial desk was very accommodating,

         12   "Bobby, just bring me a letter, quick letter, I'll

         13  issue a replacement permit, off you go."  From

         14  Calvary Cemetery near the Midtown Tunnel to lower

         15  Manhattan or Brooklyn and back to Calvary, there's

         16  no way I'm going to make it out to Jersey.  That

         17  minor error, my fault, didn't check the permit, I

         18  kick myself in the head, cost my company $2,500

         19  because OSHA regulations and health issues with the

         20  insurance company would not allow Calvary nor the

         21  receiving cemetery to leave those graves open

         22  overnight until we could go back there the following

         23  day.  So, we needed to refile the permit, reschedule

         24  the disinterment and then redo this whole thing

         25  again.  Yesterday was Eric's date of burial.
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          2                 On top of this, because of the

          3  complications Alitalia created for us, a funeral

          4  home from Utica called and asked us to help them

          5  transfer someone from Memorial Sloan- Kettering

          6  upstate New York.  In the mirage of phone calls and

          7  interruptions and people calling and the Consulate

          8  and the airlines, the young lady typing this

          9  certificate inadvertently put the wrong funeral home

         10  down as the responsible party on the death

         11  certificate that traveled with that remains up to

         12  Utica.  We processed that individual, erased the

         13  ravages of cancer from his face, got the remains to

         14  Utica in a timely fashion.  The whole thing is for

         15  naught because now the family's told they're losing

         16  their death certificates, possibly 'til May or the

         17  beginning of June.  This is what we're up against on

         18  a daily basis.

         19                 Again, to reiterate what Ms. Carroll

         20  said, we're not here to chastise Dr. Schwartz, the

         21  other members of the Health Department, it's an

         22  antiquated system that went into effect when my

         23  great- grandfather used to draw hearses to the

         24  cemetery with horses.  And they used to warm up the

         25  family coaches with smudge pots.  Look at where we
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          2  are today.  We're still playing with a system that

          3  is almost a century old and it doesn't work.

          4                 I'd like to introduce right now --

          5  I'm sorry, am I allowed to -- oh -- I didn't mean to

          6  take your position, Council Speaker.  My associate

          7  Marty Kasdan, who's going to walk us through at

          8  least the physical attributes related to that piece

          9  of paper.  Marty?

         10                 MR. KASDAN:  Thanks, Bobby.  Before I

         11  do that I just want to say good morning to all the

         12  members of the City Council and their staff members,

         13  the representatives of the New York City Department

         14  of Health and Mental Hygiene and all the concerned

         15  people here in the chamber.  I thank you very much

         16  for listening to us, for bringing this bill to

         17  fruition.  I also thank you for scheduling this

         18  particular hearing and staying with us during this

         19  momentous time in the history of the United States

         20  when Colin Powell is addressing the U.N.

         21                 As you heard, the MFDA has been

         22  working openly and with the hope that by now there

         23  would have been the completed EDRS brought to

         24  fruition by the New York City Department of Health

         25  and Mental Hygiene, their consultants and vendors.
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          2  But for whatever the reason, without placing any

          3  blame, we have traversed a long bumpy road for

          4  nearly a decade and we are still out on the highway

          5  looking for our safe haven.

          6                 We've already heard from some of my

          7  colleagues about this stupendously out of date and

          8  more often than not frustrating experience of the

          9  paper chase we, as funeral directors, have become

         10  involved with over the past century.

         11                 The onus on getting a good death

         12  certificate has fallen on our shoulders and the

         13  hours of time, money and effort expended on chasing

         14  that paper and then finding out it does not meet the

         15  sometimes arbitrary rules and regulations of the

         16  clerk at the burial desk has become more than

         17  frustrating.

         18                 The benefits of an EDRS in the City

         19  of New York are numerous and they benefit the New

         20  York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene,

         21  the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner, the

         22  physicians, nurses and assistants involved in the

         23  system, the funeral directors and, most importantly,

         24  the families we serve either face to face on my

         25  level or tangentially on the part of the DOH, the
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          2  physicians and the OCME.

          3                 If we go from a century old paper

          4  chase to a paperless system, the only thing that

          5  will be different would be the savings in time,

          6  money and grief for all concerned.

          7                 This is a fairly straightforward

          8  system we're looking for.  It is a system that works

          9  off the idea of placing information into a database,

         10  the database taking that information and spreading

         11  it into one actual certified copy of the information

         12  or transcript, the database spreading the

         13  information to the Social Security Administration

         14  and the attendant savings that will bring about, the

         15  elimination of some four to five steps within the

         16  present workings of the New York City Department of

         17  Health and Mental Hygiene, which now must code the

         18  information through the use of keypunch people, sort

         19  the information and spit out the statistics for the

         20  CDC, the Commerce Department, et cetera, and then

         21  microfilm and bind the actual paper, which means

         22  that if a family files a death certificate and gets

         23  the initial copies, and I praise the City of New

         24  York for making that change about eight or nine

         25  years ago, to get the copies to the families
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          2  immediately. If families need additional copies,

          3  which is always a real and present problem for our

          4  families, it then engenders six to eight weeks' wait

          5  for those additional copies to be received by the

          6  family.

          7                 With the EDRS system the information

          8  will be there and the copy should be out much

          9  quicker and therefore solve the problems for some of

         10  our families who are waiting for monies to live on

         11  after the death of one of their loved ones.

         12                 A simple database some 25 years into

         13  the realm of computers can be massaged, fine- tuned

         14  and used for all of the above processes and more

         15  while at the same time producing the actual end

         16  product of the whole system, a certified copy of the

         17  death certificate.  Right now the end product is a

         18  piece of paper that we must chase all over the City

         19  of New York.

         20                 And so you should know as an aside,

         21  every weekend during the summer, beginning in late

         22  May and ending in the end of September, we have an

         23  individual who works for my firm who lives on Long

         24  Island.  He calls me before he comes to work on

         25  Saturday and Sunday and wants to know do I want him
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          2  to report to work in his chapel in Queens or do I

          3  want him to take a death certificate, which he

          4  carries with him, to meet a doctor who's in the

          5  Hamptons waiting to sign that death certificate;

          6  otherwise, we can't have the funeral.

          7                 I particularly deal with Jewish

          8  families on a regular basis and the pressure put

          9  upon us for a funeral within the 24- hour period is

         10  amplified by the paper chase that we must go through

         11  and the arbitrary nature of the way the Health

         12  Department sometimes deals with that death

         13  certificate we bring to them.

         14                 The registration of funeral directors

         15  here in the City of New York is at best haphazard

         16  and never kept up to date on a regular basis by the

         17  department.  Colleagues who are licensed by the New

         18  York State Department of Health, Bureau of Funeral

         19  Directors, and that is all funeral directors within

         20  the State of New York, are prevented from filing

         21  death certificates at the moment if they do not

         22  register with the New York State Department of

         23  Health.  That means a funeral director who may be

         24  from upstate New York, licensed to do the business

         25  in the State of New York cannot file the death
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          2  certificate with the New York City Department of

          3  Health if he or she is not registered with the New

          4  York City Health Department at the present time.

          5  That engenders the funeral director from upstate New

          6  York, who might be in New York City for whatever

          7  reason and have a station wagon or a vehicle with

          8  him and a stretcher with him, has to call another

          9  funeral director to come and sign the papers at the

         10  New York City Department of Health, a dual

         11  registration system.  It's much like turning your

         12  guns in when you enter Dodge City.  If you're not

         13  the person who belongs there, they want your guns.

         14                 An EDRS will make sure that only a

         15  registered physician or funeral director is using

         16  the system and eliminate the potential for

         17  falsifying of records which exists with the paper

         18  system.

         19                 Right now, as far as I know, there is

         20  really no system of the doctors who sign the death

         21  certificates being registered with the New York City

         22  Department of Health like the funeral directors are.

         23    Any person can tell me they're a doctor and I'll

         24  bring them a death certificate, have them record

         25  that person's cause of death.  I will then file it
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          2  as a funeral director.             So, what the

          3  doctor spoke about in his earlier testimony about

          4  falsifying of records is easily done at this

          5  particular moment with the paper system.

          6                 The EDRS will provide many things to

          7  many people.  It will eliminate problems created for

          8  the hospitals and physicians.  As more and more

          9  hospitals and physicians' offices use only the

         10  computer for all record keeping, and you should know

         11  that the New York City Health and Hospitals

         12  Corporation is leading the charge of computerizing

         13  all of their records and chart entries at this

         14  particular moment in time, and more than likely,

         15  issuing more death certificates than any other group

         16  of hospitals in the City of New York.  The New York

         17  City Department of Health in its paperless system

         18  will just be part of a whole new environment.

         19                 Smaller firms in our industry will be

         20  able to use the kiosking envisioned in the original

         21  system some ten years ago at the offices of the OCME

         22  in each borough, at the burial desk and other areas

         23  in and around New York City. High user acceptance

         24  that Dr. Weisfuse talked about will only be there if

         25  this system is made mandatory and not a system that
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          2  can work in two different manners.

          3                 It should eliminate the need for

          4  travel all over the city to get a properly signed

          5  death certificate, return to your funeral home to

          6  fill in the information, draw a check for certified

          7  copies and then approach the burial desk, which the

          8  Councilperson did last night, and be subjected to

          9  their capriciousness.

         10                 Yes, there are wonderful clerks who

         11  work for the department.  Yes, there are clerks that

         12  are terrific each day.  Depending on that particular

         13  day and that particular clerk and your relationship

         14  with some of those clerks is how your certificates

         15  are handled.  And that has to stop.  EDRS will make

         16  it a level playing field.

         17                 Accurate data will be provided to the

         18  CDC and for the public health statisticians of the

         19  New York City Department of Health and Mental

         20  Hygiene for their own record keeping.  If we once

         21  again face an incident similar to 9/11, we will be

         22  prepared with an EDRS which will function and be

         23  compatible with the system in place at the OCME.

         24  This would make the record keeping that much simpler

         25  and eliminate another potential roadblock for the
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          2  families of future victims of tragedies.  As you

          3  heard from Dr. Schwartz, many of those families are

          4  now having to amend the death certificate.

          5                 Immediate processing for all orders

          6  and for copies.  The elimination of the need to deal

          7  with the Corrections Unit, which on a good day

          8  resembles the biblical story of the Tower of Babel.

          9  I can't tell you how many hours I've spent at the

         10  Health Department waiting to get to the funeral

         11  directors' window when there are other people there

         12  who are not funeral directors at the funeral

         13  directors' window.

         14                 I echo Councilperson's Sears' problem

         15  with the Corrections Unit.  It is a real problem.

         16  When I have a family that has to correct something

         17  now, it's taking upwards of three months on a

         18  regular basis, and if you want to explain to an

         19  attorney who is handling the estate why it's there

         20  for three months, I'd like to know the answer so I

         21  can explain it to them.

         22                 Families being able to get copies

         23  with online ordering, immediate cash flow for the

         24  department's coffers without the inevitable lagtime

         25  for the city to get its money through the bank and
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          2  back to us.  Funeral directors, nurses, physicians,

          3  whether they be from larger firms or smaller firms,

          4  a hospice or a nursing home, a group practice or a

          5  single practitioner will no longer need to play the

          6  New York City Department of Health and Mental

          7  Hygiene paper chase game.

          8                 I came into this industry some 43

          9  years ago when I was 13 years old and I made the

         10  mistake of filling out a death certificate in

         11  ballpoint pen.  At that particular moment in time

         12  only fountain pen was permitted 'til about 20 years

         13  ago.  So, here we are in the New York City

         14  Department of Health kicking and screaming into the

         15  21st century, going from fountain pen in my lifetime

         16  to hopefully EDRS.

         17                 Please remember, we're still talking

         18  about a sophisticated database which will have an

         19  ordering component for copies of the death

         20  certificate.  L.L. Bean comes to the Department of

         21  Health.  What an earth- shattering concept. Shocked

         22  by the budget issues after the spending of millions

         23  of dollars, no matter how many millions of dollars,

         24  a great many of the Department of Health and Mental

         25  Hygiene people who were on that original project,
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          2  which accomplished nothing with IBM, are still on

          3  the project.  I need to know why, as a funeral

          4  director, that is continuing on.

          5                 I believe that the present vendor

          6  that they're working with presented a sample to us

          7  in the reconstituted after IBM days and we're asked

          8  the question: Would it make a difference if it took

          9  two and a half to three minutes between each screen

         10  to come up.  Yes, it would make a difference in this

         11  day and age.  I think we need to look at that vendor

         12  as well.

         13                 As a concerned member of my

         14  profession we pledge our full support in helping the

         15  City of New York and the DOH realize its goal of an

         16  EDRS within a few short years, under budget, on time

         17  and up and working for the benefit of our families

         18  and everyone who uses it.

         19                 Again my thanks to the members of the

         20  Council and your staff for all of their help,

         21  concern and listening and may the bereaved families

         22  of the City of New York be the ultimate winners in

         23  this change.

         24                 I'm now going to go over to the board

         25  that we prepared so you can see what happens at this

                                                            98

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  particular moment in time and why I call it a paper

          3  chase and Bobby referred to it as well.

          4                 We actually titled this "The Other

          5  New York City Marathon" for a good reason.  When we

          6  call a hospital and -- I promise I won't sing.

          7  Thank you.  If I sing, I'll clear the house out.

          8                 We call this "The Other New York City

          9  Marathon" for a good reason.  It takes our staff

         10  sometimes five, six, seven hours, sometimes one or

         11  two days to accomplish getting what is called in the

         12  trade, in quotes, a good certificate to file and

         13  that has become our responsibility to do.  We first

         14  call the hospital usually to find out if the death

         15  certificate has been signed, if we can get the clerk

         16  to tell us the death certificate is signed, and if

         17  you can get that clerk to read to you the cause of

         18  death, which is highly unlikely in this day and age.

         19    We then go to the hospital hoping that the

         20  certificate is signed and in good form.  And I will

         21  tell you, it's not always in good form because

         22  sometimes the doctors and the clerks, as Dr.

         23  Schwartz said, who don't fill out certificates on a

         24  regular basis really don't know what to do.  The

         25  EDRS will allow them to have that particular
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          2  prompting on all the screens to make sure we get

          3  good death certificates.

          4                 Well, we may return to the funeral

          5  home without the remains.  So you understand, the

          6  hospital will not give us the remains 99% of the

          7  time without a good death certificate.  So, we go on

          8  that particular first chase.  The doctor might be in

          9  surgery, the clerk may be out to lunch when we get

         10  there and we sit and wait.

         11                 We have the same problem as we have

         12  at the Health Department with parking.  When you get

         13  to the hospitals, funeral directors are notoriously

         14  put to the loading docks of the hospitals, usually

         15  where the refuse comes out.  We're treated exactly

         16  the same way.  We're used to it.  It's not the

         17  nicest of things to happen to us, but that's what

         18  happens to us on a regular basis.

         19                 Lo and behold, we get a call that the

         20  death certificate has been signed.  We go back to

         21  the hospital and return to the funeral home.  We

         22  take the statistical information given to us by the

         23  family and fill in our portion of the death

         24  certificate, sign the back of the death certificate

         25  and then we take that death certificate with a
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          2  permit application that we fill out.  In the event

          3  of a cremation, an application for a cremation

          4  permit that we fill out and have notarized.  So, we

          5  must have notaries on staff as well.  And a check

          6  that we issue and an order form that we fill out,

          7  that the Department of Health prescribes. So, we can

          8  go down with four pieces of paper that we must bring

          9  to the Department of Health.

         10                 We get to the burial desk and we can

         11  wait on line.  But some of us who own larger firms

         12  or for the trade services like Bobby's, who bring

         13  many certificates for many smaller funeral homes

         14  with them, you are limited sometimes by the way the

         15  clerk works to how many you can file in a row.  Then

         16  you go back to the end of the line.  You get on back

         17  to the end of the line, eight people in front of

         18  you, you get to the front of the line, you file the

         19  other certificates, you get onto the end of the

         20  line.  This is all part of the paper chase system.

         21                 I have some people who work for me

         22  who love going to the Health Department.  An eight-

         23  hour shift is an eight- hour shift whether they

         24  spend it on line or they spend it in my office.

         25                 We get to the desk, the certificate
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          2  is looked at by the clerk.  The clerk will say, yes,

          3  this is in good form, we'll issue the permit that we

          4  filled out certified and certify both, give us our

          5  copies, off we go.

          6                 But as Dr. Schwartz mentioned to you

          7  before, some 1800 certificates have to be corrected

          8  after the after the filing.  I will tell you that

          9  there is probably three times the amount anecdotally

         10  that I can figure out that are bounced by the clerks

         11  and given back to us, to go find the doctor again at

         12  the hospital again, to find the clerk or the doctor

         13  at his or her home when we need to go to that

         14  particular home to get a new certificate filed.  If

         15  we're lucky, they'll give us the permit signed.

         16  They'll hold onto the certificate and not give us

         17  copies of the death certificate, which means we now

         18  go to the doctor's office or to the hospital to look

         19  for a new death certificate.  Not every hospital,

         20  believe it or not, keeps records of the death

         21  certificates they've issued or do doctors' offices.So

         22  , therefore, I come to the doctor.  He says to me,

         23   "What did I put on the first certificate?"  "I

         24  don't know.  I don't have the certificate, it's at

         25  the Health Department."  Technically we're not
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          2  permitted to copy the confidential part of the

          3  medical record that's issued by the doctor.  So, the

          4  doctor fills out a new certificate.  I fill it out,

          5  it's in good form.  I bring it to the Health

          6  Department and like happened to us a week and a half

          7  ago, the clerk looked at it and says it doesn't

          8  match the first certificate and bounces the

          9  certificate again.

         10                 Yes, I can have the funeral the next

         11  day because I have a burial permit, but now my staff

         12  is back to the doctor or back to the hospital again

         13  and the paper chase continues.  The copies of the

         14  family's death certificates, they get immediately,

         15  and I praise the Health Department for that because

         16  that's one of the best changes they've ever done for

         17  us and for our families.

         18                 The problem then comes with

         19  corrections, whether it be a correction on our part,

         20  a correction on the part of the family that,

         21  sometimes when you ask for the Social Security

         22  number of the deceased, the husband gives you his

         23  number.  You ask him, "Is that your wife's number?"

         24   "Absolutely."  It's not his wife's number and the

         25  attorney then says to us later on, "I need it
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          2  corrected, you made a mistake."  Granted we did make

          3  a mistake and we do make mistakes.  We're only

          4  human.

          5                 The EDRS will take that mistake and

          6  be able to correct it electronically.  The original

          7  concept in working with the Health Department is

          8  that eventually we can actually use the great

          9  invention of a scanner and scan the information down

         10  to the Health Department for correction and they

         11  will accept that in the initial effort.  We're

         12  hoping that's going to continue.

         13                 We now have a corrected death

         14  certificate that needs to be corrected at the Health

         15  Department.  And I talked about the Tower of Babel.

         16  Well, if you ever looked at the Tower of Babel

         17  behind it at the offices, you will see piles of

         18  papers piled up on the desks of the people who work

         19  there.  If you don't have the receipt that you were

         20  supposed to bring with it, which has a number,

         21  trying to track that death certificate can take

         22  anywhere from a day to two days.

         23  Trying to get anyone on the Health Department phones

         24  in the

         25  Corrections Department, which is besieged on a daily
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          2  basis, for correction of both birth and death

          3  records, is nigh on to impossible for us.

          4                 So, we will tell the families we'll

          5  send someone down there to wait on line.  Some of

          6  our families take it in their own hands and go wait

          7  on line there.  If I send a family down with proper

          8  information or an attorney who wants to do it, and

          9  they have a good enough story, and that's what I

         10  mean, a good enough story that hits on the

         11  particular bones of that particular person working

         12  there, that person can get a corrected death

         13  certificate the same day.

         14                 It happened to me two weeks ago when

         15  I told the family it was going to be eight to ten

         16  weeks to make a correction.  I don't look good.  I

         17  don't care if I don't look good, they had the

         18  corrected copies, but it needs to be an even playing

         19  field and it needs to be a playing field brought

         20  into the modern day technology.  If you look at that

         21  office and you try to go into it, you'll be amazed

         22  what you see there.

         23                 The corrected death certificates are

         24  then pulled and copies are made of it and we're back

         25  to Worth Street again if there's another problem.
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          2  And Dr. Schwartz says many certificates are

          3  corrected once or more than once and that's the

          4  truth.  People come up with things -- you go into

          5  the Correction Unit for birth records, the number of

          6  people who are trying to correct names in the birth

          7  record segment makes our problem look easy,

          8  especially if they were born out of the country.  We

          9  don't have to deal with certified translations of

         10  birth records, we just have to deal with the forms

         11  that we need to deal with.

         12                 But the paper chase continues for us.

         13    We run businesses that, like the City of New York,

         14  which go through their financial crises as well.

         15  There are small businesses, there are large

         16  businesses.  It doesn't mean that you, as a small

         17  business or a large business, don't face financial

         18  problems.

         19                 I've sat down and figured out on the

         20  last four certificates that my firm had to correct,

         21  it averaged $200 of labor time for us to get the

         22  certificate from the time the death took place so we

         23  could get a corrected good certificate in the hands

         24  of the Health Department.  This would be obviated by

         25  the EDRS, and that's why we're pressing for it to be
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          2  mandatory as quickly as possible.  Any system in

          3  which you give options to people, funeral directors,

          4  hospitals, doctors, whoever it might be, that the

          5  system can be either paper based or electronic,

          6  people will opt out for the paper base sometimes and

          7  then do the electronic other times.

          8                 I understand the need for the smaller

          9  facilities.  There are 24- hour- a- day funeral

         10  homes open in the City of New York.  We have no

         11  objection that I know of for a colleague to come in

         12  and use one of my computers to get onto the system.

         13  You could go to a public library when they're open

         14  and get onto their system and file it.  So, there's

         15  going to be numerous ways to get into this, but we

         16  need to eliminate the paper chase we go through.

         17                 We need to eliminate the problems for

         18  our families who need good copies of the death

         19  certificate on time.  When you have a family who's

         20  looking for a copy of a death certificate that was

         21  filed many years ago and is no longer in the vault

         22  at the Health Department on Worth Street, then we

         23  have to wait until such time as that certificate --

         24  there are enough times to go into the vault in

         25  Brooklyn -- I think they're still kept in Brooklyn
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          2   -- so you can get the book out, make a copy of the

          3  certificate that's in the bound book.  Eight to ten

          4  weeks at a time for families to get copies of the

          5  death certificate.            Birth records, you can

          6  walk up and get a copy immediately now, depending on

          7  what year you were born in.  Death certificates,

          8  which in my opinion since I work with it every day,

          9  are most important for the families we serve.  Most

         10  important for your constituents.  When they can't

         11  get money because their Wills are being tied up or

         12  their accounts are being tied up, it's a shame, and

         13  we need to change the system.  That's what this

         14  whole thing is all about.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.  Dr.

         16  Akison?

         17                 DR. AKISON:  Thank you very much,

         18  members of the Council.  I apologize for my voice.

         19  I hope it holds out.

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED MALE VOICE FROM

         21  AUDIENCE: That's why we're all moving back.

         22                 DR. AKISON:  Yes.  I'd like to just

         23  back up and give you a little bit of history and

         24  context here about where we are in the country on

         25  EDR, and then address some of the issues on

                                                            108

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  authentication and timing of submissions.

          3                 I think that I owe you a little bit

          4  of background on myself.  I'm listed as a public

          5  health informations consultant.  For many years I

          6  was overseeing the vital records operation in Albany

          7  for the rest of the state.  As we're known, "rest of

          8  state."

          9                 We began in roughly 1995 because the

         10  Department of Health there had been very aggressive,

         11  very forward- thinking, I believe, in terms of

         12  information technology in establishing what we call

         13  our health com network, an internet mode of doing

         14  business with -- for all public health systems.  We

         15  began to realize that this was the opportunity for

         16  death registration because of the complexity, of the

         17  multitude of individuals involved, the timing

         18  constraints, that the internet was really the

         19  ultimate solution.

         20                 We began an arrangement with an

         21  organization, a company, Cybase.  We had them come

         22  in and develop a prototype system for us.  There was

         23  only one other state at the time that was involved

         24  in such an effort and that was New Hampshire.  They

         25  did not choose to do a web browser base, the kind of
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          2  thing you think of now when you think of the

          3  internet.  The group that Dr. Schwartz referred to,

          4  of all the vital records people throughout the

          5  country, was very concerned at the time about where

          6  electronic death registration was going.  They

          7  actually got a contract back at that time, in 1998,

          8  from Social Security to explore what the guidelines

          9  should be, what is going on in the states -- we

         10  don't want to develop disparate systems -- what's

         11  happening, what should happen.

         12                 I actually left the State Department

         13  of Health and began working for that association to

         14  develop guidelines for the states to follow.  That

         15  effort took about two years and the guidelines were

         16  published although they were not approved as

         17  standards for another year and a half or so.

         18                 During that period of time I visited

         19  six jurisdictions that were involved in some form of

         20  EDR development and we were really looking for best

         21  practices. What had those six jurisdictions

         22  identified as key business needs and try to

         23  amalgamate that into this document, these

         24  guidelines, that jurisdictions could use to ensure

         25  that when they went to a company for the development
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          2  or chose to develop it internally, that they would

          3  have a checklist to go against, how are we handling

          4  this.

          5                 I can reference some of our early

          6  experiences.  When I was in Albany I remember that

          7  there was a time when the city, Dr. Schwartz, our

          8  compatriots from New Jersey and myself decided to

          9  have a joint meeting with the funeral directors'

         10  associations down here in the city across the

         11  street.

         12                 We had developed a bit of a

         13  prototype.  We began to talk about what our vision

         14  of the business of death registration was, and we

         15  quickly learned that there was a lot to learn.  We

         16  learned that the key individuals that we had to rely

         17  on for that business knowledge were the funeral

         18  directors and we became very tightly bound with them

         19  in terms of understanding the business of death

         20  registration.

         21  We implemented into that model and we implemented

         22  into the national guidelines the business needs of

         23  the funeral directors.

         24                 We also hear time and time again that

         25  one of the barriers that we would find throughout
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          2  implementing death registration would be physicians.

          3    The physicians would never cooperate.  They don't

          4  cooperate in the paper system, why would they

          5  cooperate in an electronic system. We found in our

          6  beta test of our software in Albany that the

          7  physicians, who deal with death registration and

          8  death certificates on a regular basis, immediately

          9  understood the value to them.  Not only that, when

         10  we went to the hospitals they immediately understood

         11  that they could be the site of assistance for not

         12  only the physicians but also funeral directors.

         13  Rather than having a desk in the Medical Records

         14  Office where physicians come to to sign preprinted

         15  or, you know, already filled out forms, they would

         16  have a terminal that the physicians could use.  We

         17  quickly realized also that the funeral directors

         18  could also use that.  This is a common point of

         19  contact for everyone in that business.  The

         20  hospitals understood that and we incorporated that

         21  recommendation into the guidelines, is that even

         22  though the laws don't necessitate the hospital

         23  involvement, the practicalities of death

         24  registration do.

         25                 One of the things that came out of
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          2  the two year project that I was involved in, as I

          3  said, was a fairly lengthy document on guidelines.

          4  It was not intended to be a common request for

          5  proposal format that is now being worked on by that

          6  same association, but it was intended to at least

          7  provide the scope of all the activities that need to

          8  be included in an EDR.

          9                 One of the things that we found out,

         10  one of the key -- we had key things, key features

         11  that you had to have in place before you even began.

         12    One of the most important key features that we

         13  found, which you had to have the political will.

         14  You had to have it internally within your department

         15  and you had to have it externally with your

         16  Legislature.  In the city it's a little bit

         17  different but, you know, you had to have the

         18  political will internally and externally to allow

         19  this to go forward.

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE:  We're a lot

         21  better.

         22                 DR. AKISON:  I'm sure you are.  I had

         23  a problem with that.

         24                 You have to have the infrastructure

         25  and you have to have the political will, which is,
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          2  if I had any reason why I would support this, it is

          3  because the political will that comes from

          4  legislation is indispensable.  I spoke to the State

          5  Funeral Directors Association and I asked them,

          6  would you please speak to your local legislators

          7  because I wanted them to come to the State

          8  Legislature and give me that political will that was

          9  harder to get from the administrative side through

         10  to the Legislature.

         11                 One of the other issues I'd like to

         12  quickly address, as Dr. Schwartz indicated, there

         13  are really three huge components of vital records

         14  management, one of which is registration.

         15  Corrections is really considered a separate entity

         16  but it's very well tied into the registration

         17  initiative.  Because as Marty Kasdan said, you have

         18  a database and that record has been filed through

         19  EDR, that electronic record is now available for

         20  correction electronically.  However -- excuse me --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Could we get you

         22  some tea from downstairs?  Would that be helpful?

         23                 DR. AKISON:  Oh, God, that would be

         24  wonderful.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  Do you
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          2  want milk in it?  No, just regular?

          3                 DR. AKISON:  Just hot tea with hot

          4  water. Just give me a moment to catch myself.

          5                 The three cornerstones of vital

          6  records are registration, corrections and the

          7  issuance or certification of those records.  They

          8  are three cornerstones.  They all build upon this

          9  common database, but they don't necessarily have to

         10  be done all at the same time.  One of the things

         11  that I learned, especially with our low budget in

         12  Albany, was that if you plan ahead and understand

         13  where you need to go, you can have your low tech

         14  solutions and your high tech solutions, and you can

         15  pick and choose which things must be implemented

         16  first, as long as you know where you're going and

         17  you have that vision.                             So

         18  , I would say that of those three elements, I'm not

         19  saying which New York City has best in hand, but

         20  they don't have to happen identically at the same

         21  time.  The business need of registration, the

         22  ability to get the burial permit issued right away

         23  is obviously the cornerstone that's being addressed

         24  today.

         25                 Another thing that I wanted to
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          2  address was the issue of authentication.  Now, in

          3  the original panel they mentioned that biometric

          4  authentication was going to be the highest

          5  recommendation based on HIPAA regulation for

          6  authentication.  To reiterate just slightly what Mr.

          7  Kasdan said, the current paper system is certainly

          8  no gold standard to follow.  No one is checking

          9  signatures at the Health Department, in any Health

         10  Department.

         11                 The professionalism has to be part of

         12  the process.  I know that in Albany, because the

         13  Department of Health there also has the Bureau of

         14  Funeral Directing Licensing and the oversight for

         15  physician practice, we had meetings with those

         16  groups and it was -- they clearly understood that if

         17  there were any malfeasance whatsoever by a funeral

         18  director or by a physician in terms of using an

         19  electronic death registration system, that they

         20  would follow up on that to the extent of their

         21  capabilities.  So, we had that oversight and

         22  certified to us by those bureaus.

         23                 Now, the other thing is that what

         24  authentication really gives, and we're talking about

         25  authentication here -- thank you so much --

                                                            116

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  authentication beyond a user ID and password, and

          3  that seems to be somewhat of a barrier that's been

          4  set here by the inclusion of biometric as a

          5  requirement, is that you're really trying to ensure

          6  that the person who is completing this record really

          7  is the person that they claim to be.  That has to be

          8  a level of a certain amount of agreement.

          9                 I know in the Heath Department in

         10  Albany, when anyone has a user ID and password, they

         11  sign a certification that they will not divulge

         12  their user ID and password.  They may authorize

         13  other individuals to enter data, but they cannot

         14  complete the record without the express action taken

         15  by them as the responsible party and we trust that

         16  that will happen.

         17                 We also follow up by -- or the system

         18  was designed so that if there were any mimicking,

         19  attempt to mimic the identity of an individual, that

         20  we had alternate routes of transmission of

         21  information back to the provider so that there were

         22  checks and balances.  For example, a weekly report

         23  back to a funeral directing agency or back to a

         24  physician's office by fax or e- mail saying we have

         25  on file that you recorded this, this and this death
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          2  certificate during this week.  If you have not done

          3  so, please notify us immediately.

          4                 So, that checks and balances gives us

          5  further affirmation that the system is not being

          6  used.  Because my personal concern is not so much

          7  that an individual will give their user ID and

          8  password to a trusted assistant, which is not

          9  correct, but it's that somebody masquerade as that

         10  individual and come in and create an absolutely

         11  bogus certificate.  I think that when you think

         12  about what are the real issues that you really need

         13  to deal with, I think that's the first and foremost

         14  one and there are many ways of handling that issue.

         15                 Finally, I'd like to just address

         16  this issue of timing.  Yes, there are many cases,

         17  almost all the medical examiner and coroner cases

         18  throughout the state, where the length of time

         19  required for the filing of the cause of death

         20  information is not sufficient by the legal

         21  requirements for issuance of a certified copy, and

         22  we always have used the "pending investigation" or

         23   "pending further study" as a way around that.  This

         24  has been a serious consideration for the Social

         25  Security Administration, but we consider a record to
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          2  be filed prior to that.

          3                 Some states have entertained and, in

          4  fact, at a national level we even really looked very

          5  closely at should the death certificate be divided

          6  into two sections that are -- with different

          7  submission requirements.  One, the administrative

          8  information required for burial and for issuance of

          9  copies that could be used for insurance purposes,

         10  and the other for death registration.  From a

         11  national perspective we actually did not promote

         12  that concept, although we understood that for

         13  certain administrative purposes a record that had

         14  not been fully completed would be useful for the

         15  Social Security Administration.

         16                 The State of Minnesota developed an

         17  EDRS system and actually chose to go into a two-

         18  stage system where there was administrative and

         19  medical information as if it were two separate

         20  certificates.  It's not the recommendation, but

         21  using an EDRS you can stage, you can have different

         22  time restrictions on individuals within the process

         23  and use the EDRS process to ensure that each person

         24  in that process is fulfilling their duty within

         25  their particular required time frames.
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          2                 In terms of the monetary gains, I

          3  just think it's good to go verbally on record that

          4  the reason we mentioned the Social Security

          5  Administration so many times -- and I became very

          6  close to many people there over those last years,

          7  was that they determined, and these numbers may even

          8  be higher in reality, $52 million annually would be

          9  saved in false expenditures to decedents and that

         10  102 work years of staff time on the top of that

         11  would be saved.

         12                 This is a very big and important

         13  project and I sort of echo your statement this

         14  $500,000 may not have been -- but they're trying

         15  very hard to spread the money around. They want this

         16  as a national system.  They're doing everything they

         17  can.  They've been a wonderful partner to the states

         18  and they continue to be.  I'm very happy to hear

         19  that the city is working with them so diligently on

         20  these models.

         21                 I wanted to give you a little

         22  background and let you know that there is a lot of

         23  information out there. There is quite a bit of

         24  history on this and that there are guidelines and

         25  standards.  While I was writing the guidelines for
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          2  an EDRS in terms of a process point of view,

          3  internet process point of view, at the same time the

          4  National Center for Health Statistics, which is part

          5  of the Centers for Disease Control, was writing data

          6  standards for internet entry of every element on the

          7  certificate.  Those documents do exist today.  Thank

          8  you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         10  much. Are there questions?  Yes, Madam Clark.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARK:  Thank you very

         12  much for your testimony.  I've been sitting here and

         13  I'm very acquainted with this matter.  You know,

         14  it's still very disturbing to me that we haven't

         15  seen fit to make this a priority in terms of really

         16  focusing on this, with all of our expertise and

         17  talents at the table, to make this thing really come

         18  to fruition.  So it leads me to be a little bit

         19  cynical about the whole process, to be quite honest

         20  with you.  I was just wondering, from your

         21  perspective 'cause I'm sitting here and I'm wracking

         22  my brain and I'm saying there has to be an industry

         23  or special interest that benefits from the fact that

         24  there's such delays in the system, could you or do

         25  you, are you aware of, would it be the banking
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          2  industry, would it -- who would benefit from the

          3  fact that, you know, we can't get this thing going

          4  in a timely manner? We know who, of course, is

          5  suffering as a result of this, but there's got to be

          6  a benefit to someone somewhere.  Maybe that's just

          7  my cynicism.

          8                 MS. CARROLL:  If I could answer.  I

          9  don't believe there are any benefits to the current

         10  system.  I think sometimes in government you get

         11  used to doing a process in a certain way, day in and

         12  day out, but, no, there are no benefits to the

         13  current system.  It's just problematic.  There's no

         14  other way of saying it.

         15                 DR. AKISON:  Excuse me.  When I was

         16  in Albany we actually did not have the situation

         17  that you have in New York City because we were not

         18  the point of issuance for death certificates.  New

         19  York is a little bit of an unusual state.  We have

         20  1500 local registrars, all the cities, towns and

         21  villages, a few counties, actually serve as

         22  registrars.

         23                 Those are places where the funeral

         24  directors and the rest of the state go to get their

         25  issued copies.  So, the problem in terms of issuance
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          2  was a very local issue.  We've often said amongst

          3  ourselves, we always said, well, there are 1501

          4  local districts because we have to include New York,

          5  and that's 8 million people in one district.  So, we

          6  had a bit of difficulty.

          7                 Despite that we recognize that the

          8  process was an archaic one and that we weren't

          9  helping anybody in terms of providing quality data

         10  back to the National Center for Health Statistics,

         11  because nobody should underplay the importance of

         12  the death certificate as one of the chief sources of

         13  the most vital, vital public health information.

         14  It's an old saw to say that many diseases have been

         15  identified from the death certificate, not the least

         16  of which is AIDS.  So, the data is incredibly

         17  important.

         18                 We've marketed it to the Centers for

         19  Disease Control as a cornerstone of bioterrorism,

         20  not for the, maybe, perhaps for the obvious things

         21  which is, you know, the diseases that are the scare

         22  of the week but for more subtle invasions into our

         23  public health system because this is a system that,

         24  when it's fully implemented, will be used on a daily

         25  basis by all medical examiners, coroners and

                                                            123

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  hospitals.  We try to market it to them, to really

          3  incorporate it into the health alert network that

          4  CDC is promoting.

          5                 We think there's a lot of players out

          6  there. So, I have to agree with Maryann very few

          7  benefactors of the current system, many, many

          8  different way in which it will help.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  We've heard

         10  obviously New Jersey, New Hampshire.  In a number of

         11  your testimony you seem to be referencing other

         12  states, though, that it was perhaps more than just

         13  the two, New Jersey and New Hampshire.  Are there

         14  other states who are doing stuff, have done stuff?

         15                 DR. AKISON:  When I was doing my

         16  setting up the guidelines, I visited California,

         17  Minnesota, New Jersey, New York State, New York City

         18  as a separate jurisdiction. Since then there have

         19  been several that have tried to contract with

         20  individuals, but I think part of the reality of the

         21  situation is that many of the vendors weren't quite

         22  ready to move toward the web, which is why we spent

         23  the time, the two years that we did, in addressing a

         24  web- based process.  That's really the critical leap

         25  that the vendors needed to get over.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Do you know what

          3  California did by any chance, or do any of you know?

          4    It doesn't --

          5                 MS. CARROLL:  I do believe California

          6  just passed legislation that was signed to create

          7  the electronic death certificates, so they are

          8  moving forward fairly rapidly.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  In the

         10  department's testimony they could have put out a

         11  two- year time frame to come up with a system and I

         12  don't -- you know, obviously, if a bill was passed

         13  things wouldn't happen like that.  There would still

         14  obviously be a delay.  Things would -- it would be

         15  great.  But, you know, there would still need to be

         16  development, et cetera.

         17                 As it relates to the two, two and a

         18  half year time frame that the department put out,

         19  will A, does that -- maybe you didn't know that

         20  before you got here today -- so does that kind of,

         21  you know, calm any of your fears or concerns that,

         22  you know, may have led you to feel that legislation

         23  was needed?  And if the answer to that is no, which

         24  I suspect, do your fears remain because, A, you

         25  think without legislation it may not happen or, B,
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          2  you're afraid that the system will be one that

          3  isn't, you know, notwithstanding the commitment to

          4  have a community advisory process, the system won't

          5  be one that is actually user friendly from the

          6  funeral directors' perspective?

          7                 MS. CARROLL:  Yes, all of the above.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So, your fears

          9  are not calmed?

         10                 MS. CARROLL:  Oh, not at all.  If

         11  this legislation is not signed by the Mayor, I have

         12  really no confidence in the Health Department's

         13  commitment, the kinds of commitment they were

         14  referring to, the kinds of commitments that we

         15  received more than eight years ago, then six years

         16  ago, then four years ago, then two years ago.  I'm

         17  not trying to be trite, but this is, this has to be

         18  a priority and the only way that a commitment is

         19  real is if it's required, and that's why it's key

         20  for this legislation.

         21                 I think that besides the time

         22  parameters that have to be in writing, that are

         23  going to be mandated, also, usage has to be mandated

         24  which is not something the Health Department is

         25  committed to.  And, frankly, is the most key
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          2  component of all of this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Can you elaborate

          4  on that a little bit, the user requirement, if you

          5  wouldn't mind?

          6                 MS. CARROLL:  Sure.  What the Health

          7  Department is saying is that EDRS is a great thing,

          8  but we don't believe it should be mandated for all

          9  users.  Users being physicians, funeral directors,

         10  medical examiners.  If it's not mandated, what it

         11  will mean is that some funeral directors participate

         12  and some won't, some funeral -- some doctors will

         13  and some won't.  It'd be a bifurcated process, a mix

         14  of paper and electronic.  Some of the certificates

         15  would be dropped to paper and won't be completed

         16  electronically so you'll get partial results.

         17                 The answer to this question, too, can

         18  better be addressed by Mr. Lipira, who's the former

         19  State Registrar, who's going to be coming up here

         20  and also Luke Hilgendorff, who works for the State.

         21  In New Jersey when they stated working on their

         22  electronic death registration, the State wasn't sold

         23  on a mandated system and through the process of

         24  their beta test they discovered that it needs to be

         25  electronic because of the benefits, but also people
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          2   -- if it's a voluntary usage, it will be a

          3  voluntary system and the benefits we're looking for

          4  in terms of replacing a system won't happen.  It

          5  will have some help but it won't be the dramatic

          6  change that's needed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  How do you,

          8  given that, and I totally see that point, how do

          9  you, or any of you, respond to the concern that the

         10  department raised that if it's mandatory, and

         11  obviously there's gradations between voluntary and

         12  mandatory so that may be where one would need to end

         13  up, but how do you respond to their concern that if

         14  it's mandatory the, you know, small doctor's office,

         15  kind of, you know, neighborhood doctor who isn't a

         16  big internet user, will end up kind of out of luck,

         17  or the small whatever, funeral director or whatever,

         18  who isn't using internet.  How do we -- how do you

         19  respond to their concerns that you don't want to

         20  have a system that is so broad it actually cuts

         21  providers out?

         22                 MR. KASDAN:  I'm not sure it's going

         23  to cut providers out.  As I said before, the local

         24  library gives you an access to the internet.  Most

         25  physicians I know, in order to collect their bills
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          2  in this day and age, whether they be an individual

          3  practice or a larger practice, if they don't do it

          4  by computer they don't collect their bills from the

          5  insurance companies and most of them file

          6  electronically in order to collect those bills now.

          7  So, I don't think it's a problem for the individual

          8  physician.  It might be for the smaller funeral home

          9  who may not have the access to the internet.  I work

         10  for a larger company.  When our computer system goes

         11  down, we must go to manual contracts because we have

         12  to do it.

         13            There's not going to be a hundred percent

         14  system that when their system goes down in the City

         15  of New York, if we ever get a power grid failure

         16  like happened years ago when the whole city goes

         17  down instead of parts of the city, of course you're

         18  going to have to go to another system that exists

         19  out there.  The same way the city ably responded to

         20  when the 9/11 crisis took place and moved their

         21  Health Department to another location.  Yes,

         22  mandating the electronic usage of this particular

         23  system, I think, is the only way it's going to work

         24  for everybody because it will give them a set of

         25  parameters the live by, but there's always going to
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          2  be the need for manual with any electronic system

          3  you do anywhere.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  It sounds like

          5  you wouldn't oppose some kind of gradation or a

          6  waiver system where some funeral director could have

          7  an ability to petition the Department of Health and

          8  Mental Hygiene and say, you know, I'm -- my receipts

          9  every year are below X, my staffing is below Y, you

         10  know, I have a computer and therefore I should be

         11  granted the ability to continue on paper.  It sounds

         12  like you'd be open to --

         13                 MS. CARROLL:  Oh, I don't know if

         14  that would really be productive.  I mean, I think

         15  the bill refers to a citywide crisis in going to

         16  paper and the Commissioner or the Mayor declaring an

         17  emergency and going to paper.

         18                 In terms of the small funeral

         19  director, and I know Mr. Lane was going to be

         20  addressing this, is that they're going to be many

         21  alternatives for those individuals that don't have

         22  computer internet access.  What's unique about the

         23  electronic death registration system, it's not going

         24  to require really any special equipment, no special

         25  software, you know, in terms of requiring special
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          2  gizmos for authentication, that will be an obstacle.

          3                 But internet access truly is not an

          4  obstacle.  For the small business that doesn't have

          5  a computer now, they may choose to purchase a

          6  computer or they may not.  Many small businesses

          7  are, hire what's called in the industry tradesmen,

          8  where they provide embalming services to the funeral

          9  home and paperwork services to the funeral home.

         10  So, many small businesses don't process their own

         11  death certificates anyway.  And for those businesses

         12  that don't use tarde people and those businesses

         13  that choose not to purchase a computer, certainly

         14  there can be some sort of subregistrar system set up

         15  or there's going to be access at the Health

         16  Department which they have already provided, that I

         17  believe are available.  I do understand, also, that

         18  maybe sometime in the past the medical examiner was

         19  willing to provide access as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  So you think

         21  that concern the department raised is unfounded?

         22                 MS. CARROLL:  Yes.

         23                 MR. RUGGIERO:  Also, Miss Quinn, if I

         24  could interject just for a moment.  Just to show you

         25  the support of our members and how eager they are to
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          2  participate in this thing, back in 1997, I believe,

          3  or '98 when the original IBM prototype was to be

          4  unveiled, the Bronx County Funeral Directors held a

          5  meeting of which at that time I was the Chairperson.

          6                 I invited 70 members of Bronx County

          7  to a meeting to watch IBM do a demonstration of the

          8  prototype. Three hundred funeral directors from the

          9  tri- county area showed up.  It's not that -- we

         10  need to make this mandatory for acceptance -- I'm

         11  sorry, because of the smaller people. We are out

         12  there waiting for this to happen.  We need to make

         13  it mandatory so that it's successful and it works

         14  properly.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Going back to one

         16  of my early questions, that issue of two years, set

         17  aside if it's not legislated two years won't be two

         18  years for a second, but if there was -- if two years

         19  was real, you know what I mean, it was a real

         20  deadline, but tragically passing legislation doesn't

         21  actually require that anybody's going to meet

         22  deadlines, but at least then one could go to court

         23  if they felt the need.  Not necessarily the

         24  Department of Health, I just mean any government

         25  entity.  Is two years too long, given -- I mean,
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          2  given -- setting aside, obviously eight years has

          3  passed and we shouldn't be here but the reality of

          4  that, we're here today and those eight years

          5  happened.  Is two years too long in your perspective

          6  to move from the unfortunate place we are today to

          7  an EDRS process?

          8                 MS. CARROLL:  To give some

          9  perspective, when we received an original time line

         10  from the city, before they had done their research

         11  and development and identified city needs, they were

         12  going to complete and implement within two years.

         13  So, if you keep that in mind, that the city

         14  understands its needs and knows what the components

         15  are going to be, it does sound like an awfully long

         16  time.  I think it's very reasonable to start

         17  implementation in a year, you know, for part of the

         18  city with a phase- in as outlined in the

         19  legislation.

         20                 Yes, EDRS is complicated, but the

         21  city does have at least a foundation, maybe not a

         22  work product, but a foundation for their needs.  So,

         23  I think that the two years might be -- I certainly

         24  think that could be reduced a bit.

         25                 MR. RUGGIERO:  And also, Miss Quinn,
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          2  to quote Councilman Oddo, who mentioned earlier,

          3  until they pass the legislation to close.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Oh, absolutely.

          5  I was just kind of trying to get a sense of, you

          6  know, in the process let's say there was a bill,

          7  even though it's a hypothetical, if there was a bill

          8  and it said two years, whether that's something that

          9  people would say, you know, people in the industry

         10  would say that's nice, there's ab ill but two years

         11  is way too long.  I was trying to get a sense of,

         12  you know, more moving to --

         13                 MR. RUGGIERO:  If we're completely --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- A place of

         15  mutual agreement, they put out a deadline.  Well, if

         16  you legislated that, how would the industry feel

         17  about it?

         18                 MR. RUGGIERO:  If it was completely

         19  operation in two years, it would be acceptable.

         20                 MR. KASDAN:  And a miracle.

         21                 MR. RUGGIERO:  And a miracle.

         22                 MS. CARROLL:  If I could provide some

         23  suggestions on the language in the bill for the

         24  effective dates which is the last paragraph of the

         25  legislation, obviously this legislation was drafted
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          2  more than a year ago so the dates have changed.  It

          3  says, "The local law shall take effect immediately

          4  provided, however, that Subdivision C shall take

          5  place -- effect on January 1st, 2004."  I would find

          6  it acceptable to make that July 1st, 2004.  And then

          7  with respect to the Boroughs of Manhattan and Staten

          8  Island on July 1st, 2004, I think it would be fine

          9  to make that January 2005.  And then with respect to

         10  the Boroughs of Brooklyn, Bronx and Queens,

         11   "Provided further that Subdivision D shall take

         12  effect on July 1st, 2003" -- I think that would be

         13  fine to make January 2004 -- "and provided further

         14  that Subdivision E shall take effect on January 1st,

         15  2004."  We can make that July 2004.  I think that

         16  would accommodate building in a buffer for the

         17  city's needs.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I have my usual

         19  low tech/high tech questions.  On the maybe high

         20  tech, but the issue of telephone voice recognition

         21  technology, is that something that's used?  I know

         22  we're trying to struggle with this authenticity

         23  issue.  Is that something that's used anywhere or

         24  that you recommend?

         25                 DR. AKISON:  It's being explored.
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          2  The first test case of some sort of voice

          3  recognition was actually done in a pilot in

          4  California.  But what they were actually doing was

          5  using it as another form of biometric

          6  authentication.  So, they would register their voice

          7  and then they could call in and say the words, "I

          8  certify," as a way to imprint the recognition of

          9  that.  It was a very interesting technology, a very

         10  interesting thought.  My personal feeling about that

         11  was if they could implement that using internet

         12  telephony so that you didn't then have to go to a

         13  separate mechanism through a telephone and do it,

         14  then that would make sense.

         15                 The goal has always been to be able

         16  to allow physicians to enter the medical cause of

         17  death using a telephone.  Medical terminology being

         18  as difficult as it is, accents being what they are,

         19  it is not a straightforward voice recognition

         20  problem.  But I think that there's no question that

         21  it's going there.  Just as we can use bar code

         22  readers to pick up numeric entries, really, it's

         23  just another form of entering data into a form.

         24                 I perceive that as the technology

         25  moves forward, these systems will accommodate to new
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          2  opportunities.  Rather than entering data by typing

          3  them you'll enter them through voice.  You'll be

          4  able to enter them on mobile phone that has a

          5  browser in it, all of these things.  And if the

          6  vendor isn't smart enough to know that, then you go

          7  to one that is.  I mean, these things should be part

          8  of the planning process.  It's one reason I have

          9  always been wanting to push the edge because I felt

         10  that the technology, if you design the system

         11  properly, the technology as it comes -- becomes

         12  available can be refocused back into your existing

         13  system.  You don't have to start over gain, you can

         14  just continue the evolution of a solid system.  So,

         15  nothing precludes that, there's no reason to wait.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  All right.

         17  Okay.  For the association I was just wondering how

         18   -- we've all talked about this advisory council and

         19  advice that's been given or not perhaps sought

         20  enough, how would you, you know, sort of feel that

         21  such a committee should be constituted and how often

         22  should it meet and what would be your best practices

         23  on the advisory group?

         24                 MS. CARROLL:  There has been some

         25  involvement certainly by the funeral industry most
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          2  recently the hospital industry has been put into the

          3  mix as well as physicians. Our involvement, though,

          4  has to be one of substance.  It's been somewhat

          5  superficial.  While they've asked us for assistance,

          6  it's been on some of the more minute details and,

          7  you know.  Our involvement should be one where our

          8  suggestions are taken at more than face value which

          9  unfortunately in the past a number of our

         10  recommendations were basically blown off.  So, as

         11  long as it's one where it's a committee that's of

         12  substance with defined responsibilities and goals, I

         13  think it would be great.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I have one last

         15  question.  I think for the expert from the world,

         16  meaning California and Minnesota and the State of

         17  New York, the national -- what was said by the

         18  Department of Health earlier was that by June we

         19  would have a national model sort of set of

         20  requirements.  What does that mean to you exactly? I

         21  know what it meant for the Health, but what does

         22  that mean to you?

         23                 MS. AKISON:  Well, actually, I was

         24  part of that initiative when I left working for the

         25  Association last April.  So, it's been a good nine,
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          2  ten months since that initiative began.  The

          3  concept, which is a very good one, is that a common

          4  set of actionable requirements be available for all

          5  states to implement.  The guidelines were intended

          6  to provide a checklist of functionalities that need

          7  to be included in an EDR.  This is actually more

          8  done at the design level making, as Dr. Schwartz

          9  said, unambiguous prescriptions about how to

         10  implement in an individual piece of the EDR process.

         11    I think if they can meet the time line that's --

         12  you know, it's certainly not a step backward. It's a

         13  good thing.

         14                 As I said, there is a lot of

         15  information about EDR.  It is not such new territory

         16  in the year 2003.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         18  much. Any other questions?  Thank you very much,

         19  all.  Terrific panel, particularly the human side.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 Our next and last panel -- I think we

         22  have one public speaker so maybe you could join the

         23  panel, but it is definitely Donald Lipira, Vital

         24  Records Consultant, Luke Hilgendorff, who's Manager

         25  of Systems Support, New Jersey Department of Health

                                                            139

          1  HEALTH AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  and Senior Services and Milton Lane, Metropolitan

          3  Funeral Directors Association Board Member,

          4  Assistant Manager and Vice- President of Paul Lane

          5  Funeral Home in Jamaica, Queens.  And Vicki

          6  Thompson, President of Brooklyn & Long Island

          7  Funeral Directors Association and Assistant Manager

          8  of the L.H. Woodward Funeral Homes, Inc.

          9  And Brooklyn.  I'm corrected by a Council member

         10  from Brooklyn, Council Member Clark.

         11                 And, Miss Granby, why don't you stand

         12  right on hold right here in the front row and then

         13  we can move quickly.

         14                 All right.  Who would like to start?

         15  Just push the button.

         16                 MR. LIPIRA:  Good afternoon. I'm

         17  Donald Lipira, Vital Records Consultant, retired

         18  State Registrar for the State of New Jersey.  I had

         19  the pleasure of implementing the New Jersey

         20  Electronic Death Registration System, which I'd like

         21  to tell you about today and how we got there and

         22  what happened and where it's going to go.

         23                 We look at the New Jersey electronic

         24  death registration system as a true experience of

         25  government working with private industry because we
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          2  bring in the government, hospitals, hospice,

          3  registered nurses, the medical profession and the

          4  local health departments.  We, too, in New Jersey

          5  have many local health departments, 565. And every

          6  local health department has a registrar, deputy

          7  registrar, alternate deputy registrar and we can go

          8  on.

          9                 New Jersey obtained the base software

         10  from the State of New York.  I actually found out

         11  about that software at a meeting here in New York

         12  City in 1995.  I believe Pam alluded to that

         13  meeting.  I left that meeting, for lack of a better

         14  word, inspired. I put in for funding immediately for

         15  that project and kept putting in for funding every

         16  year until it was granted in FY2000 -- actually,

         17  1999, at which time I called Pam and requested that

         18  if we could get a copy of the New York State

         19  software.   And we did.  I guess it was nearly

         20  completed.  We upgraded it.  We made it New Jersey

         21  specific for our statutes and regulations.

         22                 We then immediately formed an

         23  advisory group which encompassed everyone who would

         24  be participating in the death certificate process.

         25  Every association was represented on that advisory
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          2  group and, working with our New Jersey Hospital

          3  Association, inquired about getting some volunteer

          4  hospitals.  The first hospital was chosen.  The lead

          5  hospital was Chilton Memorial Hospital.  We chose

          6  them basically because they could meet our time line

          7  and they were the right size; they were not small

          8  and they were not super- huge.

          9                 Although the system was voluntary in

         10  the State of New Jersey the way we began it, we

         11  actually said to the hospitals, "If you're going to

         12  participate in this project, you need to make a

         13  commitment to stop using paper and begin every death

         14  certificate electronically.  Whether or not it's

         15  finished electronically is another story, but you

         16  have to commit to start every record electronically

         17  and get rid of the paper system."  Chilton agreed to

         18  do that. And this was no small commitment for the

         19  hospital.  I mean, the central filing of documents

         20  in New Jersey began in 1848, so there's a long

         21  history of paper and it's tough getting people to

         22  leave something that they're very comfortable with,

         23  and also that was working.

         24                 The staff at Chilton Memorial were

         25  very committed to the project and actually helped it
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          2  succeed.

          3  While I was attending a meeting again in New York

          4  City, I keep coming here for a lot of meetings, a

          5  NAPHSIS meeting, the first --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Keep coming.

          7  Any time.

          8                 MR. LIPIRA:  The first

          9  electronically, I say totally electronically

         10  document was filed on February 25th, 2000.  It was

         11  filed while we were presenting the New Jersey

         12  electronic death registration system to the

         13  Northeastern States NAPHSIS committee.

         14                 With regard to that software, the

         15  software that we used in New Jersey, that we got

         16  from New York, so some of the accolades definitely

         17  have to go to New York State, was nominated for the

         18   "Computer World" magazine award and we were a

         19  finalist in that award process.  New Jersey was also

         20  asked to participate in the Social Security pilot

         21  that you heard about earlier.  That pilot was a

         22  success

         23  and I understand, and maybe Luke could elaborate on

         24  this later, that the Social Security software will

         25  be implemented, officially implemented in New Jersey
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          2  very shortly.

          3                 Now, how did we get to that first

          4  electronic filing?  I'm telling you, it was not

          5  easy.  We had to build an infrastructure with all of

          6  those local registrars, many funeral directors.

          7  What we found out in our advisory group was that

          8  they don't all complete their own documents.  So, we

          9  not only had to provide for the funeral directors,

         10  the registrars, the physicians, but we had to

         11  prepare for their staff, their R.N.s, their

         12  secretaries, who would be implementing a lot of --

         13  inputting a lot of the data and then that funeral

         14  director would get on and verify the data and then,

         15  obviously, sign off on the certificate.

         16                 We worked together with the very

         17  helpful, the New Jersey State Funeral Directors

         18  Association, the medical examiners.  The New Jersey

         19  Registrars Association worked with the State

         20  Department of Health and Senior Services to build

         21  this infrastructure.  And as more and more hospitals

         22  came on board we had to go and redo that

         23  infrastructure in each area where we were going,

         24  where that hospital would be drawing the patients

         25  from.
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          2                 Now, at the time I retired we had

          3  built an infrastructure in 11 counties and that

          4  included seven hospitals, one county medical

          5  examiner, one nursing home, one hospice that were

          6  either on the system or consented to go onto the

          7  system.  When the entire State of New Jersey is part

          8  and onto the system, we envision somewhere around

          9  approximately 8,000 users that would be using that

         10  system at any one point in time.

         11                 Now, at the beginning of the EDRS, I

         12  projected there would be a minimum of three to five

         13  years for implementation.  After the first 24 months

         14  the State Department of Health and Senior Services

         15  and the New Jersey State Funeral Directors

         16  Association began talking about mandatory

         17  legislation.  Now together they amended the current

         18  legislation that is moving through the New Jersey

         19  legislative process at this time and hearing today

         20  we're hopeful it's going to go through in the

         21  spring.

         22                 I feel that unless an EDRS, no matter

         23  where it is, is made mandatory, the process of

         24  installation of the EDRS process will take so long

         25  and will be so drawn out that government will not be
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          2  able to take full advantage of the benefits of

          3  electronic filing.

          4                 Hospitals have many obligations.

          5  They have other priorities.  This is not an

          6  emergency, so they may consent to become part of the

          7  system.  You may train their staff and then they're

          8  going to maybe put you off for a while.  And what

          9  that while is is whenever they get around to it.  In

         10  New Jersey the paper system is mandated by law, so

         11  it's logical that if we're mandating the paper

         12  system we ought to mandate the electronic system.

         13  And I feel that government has to move forward, take

         14  advantage of electronic filing of vital records and

         15  that this technology is the future for filing all

         16  vital records and all their related documents.

         17                 Thank you for letting me speak here

         18  today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         20  much, Mr. Hilgendorff.  And thank you all for

         21  waiting.  I know it was a long morning.

         22                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  I actually don't

         23  have any prepared remarks.  I was here to answer

         24  questions.  I'm sure there'll be some of your high-

         25  tech questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Next speaker.

          3  Mr. Lane.

          4                 MR. LANE:  Good morning, Council

          5  members. I'm Milton Lane, a licensed New York State

          6  funeral director and I run and operate a firm, Paul

          7  Lane Funeral Home, in southeast Queens, specifically

          8  Jamaica, New York, along with my brother.  We have

          9  one other full- time funeral director on staff to

         10  handle the calls that we do.

         11                 My testimony today is going to

         12  address many of the benefits of EDRS to small

         13  funeral firms and the effect of the system on firms

         14  without computers and the positive effects of the

         15  system on the families that we serve.  During my

         16  testimony I'm also going to attempt to address some

         17  of the things that were brought up by others

         18  speaking prior.

         19                 One of the most noticeable benefits

         20  of the EDR system to small funeral firms will be the

         21  drastic savings in time and manpower.  It is just

         22  the one, two and three- person operations that

         23  suffer dearly under the current system.  Just

         24  imagine being a sole proprietor and having to choose

         25  between being readily available to serve a family or
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          2  spend your day trying to get a death certificate

          3  corrected.

          4  The situation doesn't improve much with a two or

          5  three person firm where you lose half or a third of

          6  your workforce respectively for a number of hours.

          7  It is the small firm that operates on the leanest

          8  budget and any delay in processing for initial

          9  transcripts, reorders or corrected certificates

         10  impacts them and the families they serve the

         11  greatest.

         12                 I wanted to address some of the

         13  things that were said before as far as the Bedford

         14  desk.  It is a help. I know geographically for me it

         15  is closer.  We are able to get a director there

         16  quicker than actually coming down to Worth Street

         17  which, by the way, I had to do today.  I figured I

         18  was coming to testify, so at the same time I was

         19  going to file certificates for families that I'm

         20  serving.

         21  And I did that before coming here.

         22                 The other thing I want to point out

         23  about the Bedford burial desk is that currently

         24  right now it's staffed by one clerk.  There is no

         25  supervisor and if you need to take care of an
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          2  operation other than strictly filing death

          3  certificates, returning and reorders, they're

          4  usually not able to help you there.  So if I had an

          5  amended certificate that I need to get corrected to

          6  turn into the Correctional Department for that, I

          7  still have to come to Worth Street. If there's a

          8  questionable certificate that I'm going to need a

          9  supervisor's input on, I still have to come to

         10  Manhattan. Bedford is also only open between the

         11  business hours of 8 and 8:30 or either 8 a.m. To 4.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Closed for

         13  lunch.

         14                 MR. LANE:  Yeah, closed for lunch.

         15                 So, if you're actively doing funerals

         16  in a small firm, you're at the cemetery, you're at

         17  church, or making arrangement with families during

         18  that time.  A lot of small firms have to come after

         19  hours or at night.  My wife hates it when I have to

         20  come to the city overnight.  But I like 3 a.m.,

         21  that's my favorite time.

         22                 Which brings us to the issue of

         23  parking down at the burial desk, which you already

         24  talked about.  I was there this morning, so I

         25  noticed they now have printed notices there to the
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          2  messengers of funeral directors.  I'm not sure,

          3  Council Member Brewer, if they were there last night

          4  when you were there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  They were.

          6                 MR. LANE:  They were.  Okay.  So, on

          7  the official stationery it seems to me that right

          8  now it is clearly set that parking is going to be

          9  our problem until maybe that's further discussed so

         10  that some leeway could be given to directors filing

         11  there.

         12                 I want to speak about the problem

         13  with mandatory, making the bill mandatory, EDRS

         14  mandatory for the physicians, funeral directors,

         15  hospitals and everyone involved.  I would like to

         16  bring to your attention that under the current

         17  paper- based system, if a doctor refuses to sign a

         18  certificate right now for me, which they can do, I

         19  currently have to contact the City Office of the

         20  Chief Medical Examiner's Office and alert them to

         21  this fact.  For instance, if I go to a house

         22  removal, a person that died in a home or hospice

         23  case -- that usually doesn't happen, it's

         24  traditionally the home removals where that will

         25  happen.  And that has happened to me on occasion.
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          2  I've gotten to a doctor's office where he said, "I'm

          3  not signing this." Okay, I call the medical

          4  examiner.  It seems to me like that is almost a

          5  parallel between a physician that maybe might be

          6  outside of New York City or either is in New York

          7  City but hasn't got a computer, hasn't seen the

          8  need, refuses to do that.  It's along the lines --

          9  if the system was mandated, his refusal to file his

         10  portion electronically would be almost tantamount to

         11  refusing to sign the death certificate, which you

         12  can do now under the paper- based system.

         13                 I would also like to point out that

         14  that usually doesn't happen because the funeral

         15  directors and the physicians are both professionals.

         16                 We take both our jobs very seriously.

         17    I know the physician's job does not stop when a

         18  patient expires.  They're still concerned usually

         19  about the families and the best way that they can

         20  serve them even after the loss of their loved one.

         21                 If the system is mandated, I would

         22  suggest to you that the physicians and the funeral

         23  directors would follow the rules and do what is

         24  necessary, just like under the current system.  I

         25  can't refuse to file death certificates, obviously
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          2  because that is the business that I'm in, serving

          3  families.  If I did, I'd be out of business very

          4  soon.  But doctors do have the option of declining

          5  to sign death certificates.

          6                 Now, on the issue of small funeral

          7  firms that don't own computers yet, the very nature

          8  of the EDR system that's proposed would have

          9  provision for them as well.  I outlined three

         10  scenarios in my testimony.  Scenario one is that

         11  some funeral firms use what's called a "trade

         12  service" that I believe a number of people have

         13  mentioned already. To facilitate the removal of

         14  bodies from hospitals and the filing of death

         15  certificates.  So the certificate is being filed for

         16  them by another director anyway.

         17                 Scenario two is that the Metropolitan

         18  funeral director can set up various subregistrar

         19  locations at member funeral homes.  By doing this,

         20  firms without computers will be able to use the

         21  equipment of other firms that do file electronically

         22  to complete the death registration process.

         23  I, for one, would volunteer my firm as one such

         24  registrar.

         25                 Scenario three is that firms without
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          2  computers continue traveling to 125 Worth Street and

          3  use the computers that would be made available there

          4  to complete the death registration process.

          5  However, they go without the fear and uncertainty of

          6  the certificate being rejected because of an error

          7  or an omission.  Scenario three is more or less what

          8  we do already under the current paper- based system,

          9  but we go not knowing whether the certificate is

         10  going to be rejected because of an error or

         11  omission.

         12                 I do try to perform the due

         13  diligence.  I can happily say I haven't had a

         14  certificate rejected in quite some time because I

         15  try to check the causes of death before we pick up

         16  the certificate for removal from the hospital.

         17  Unfortunately, the way the burial desk is set up

         18  right now, they deal with rejection only.  I cannot

         19  call the burial desk and ask them what a doctor

         20  should be putting there. That job is the

         21  responsibility of -- there's a gentleman in the

         22  Health Department, I don't know if that's his

         23  official title, somebody in the Health Department

         24  would have to speak to that, but there's a Mr. Soto

         25  that will often help funeral directors or hospital
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          2  facilities put together causes of death.  But,

          3  again, he's only of use if you know of him.  If he's

          4  out or on vacation or not available, questions about

          5  the causes of death have to be directed to the

          6  Office of the Chief Medical Examiner.  If there's

          7  still a question about it, you better make sure that

          8  your death certificate that you're filing has the

          9  name of who you spoke to at the Medical Examiner's

         10  Office along with the date and the time for

         11  verification.

         12                 Under the EDR system any location

         13  with a computer, internet connection and printer

         14  could be utilized to complete the death registration

         15  process.  This concept possesses extreme

         16  flexibility.  Of course, if those firms without

         17  computers or internet connections would decide to

         18  obtain one, it can be done at a small burden

         19  compared to the overall convenience and time saved.

         20                 I have a letter with me from the

         21  family, I believe it's on page 32 of the booklets

         22  that were handed out to you and I'll just go over

         23  that very quickly because I know that we've spent a

         24  lot of time on this today.

         25                 This letter was submitted to me by a
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          2  family. We actually talked about it.  I provided

          3  them with the factual information of the dates that

          4  things were filed at the Health Department and the

          5  responses that we got back from them.  Miss

          6  Manderson lost her father, unfortunately, last

          7  summer.  I'd like to read the letter actually.

          8  Okay, you have it.

          9                 Miss Manderson lost her father on

         10  July 3rd of 2002.  His case became a medical

         11  examiner's case because he was found actually

         12  outside the manner of death that he was found.  His

         13  cause of death was not determined immediately. It

         14  was slated pending further study.  So, we went ahead

         15  and proceeded forward with the funeral, knowing that

         16  it was pending further study.  Unfortunately, we

         17  were notified by the insurance company that they

         18  would not do any payout or out process the claim any

         19  further until a certified death certificate was

         20  obtained with the final cause of death on it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And that's the

         22  standard procedure, correct --

         23                 MR. LANE:  That's the standard

         24  procedure with, yes, 99% of the insurance companies

         25  out there that you have to deal with that accept
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          2  insurance assignments, yes.

          3                 We spoke with Miss Manderson and her

          4  family and they explained their financial situation

          5  to us as a funeral home.  My brother and I spoke and

          6  we decided that we're going to do this and then just

          7  follow up on the paperwork later to get this family

          8  served since they were neighbors of ours.

          9                 We submitted the paperwork and got a

         10  letter back from Met Life on July 17th that, stating

         11  that they were unable to process the claim.  In

         12  about a month's time, which is actually I find

         13  reasonable, she found it reasonable as well, we knew

         14  the medical examiner was busy with many duties.

         15  There are many tests that they have to perform such

         16  as toxicology, so forth and so on.

         17                 On August 1st, 2002 the medical

         18  examiner had determined the cause of death for her

         19  father.  Now, she was happy because she thought this

         20  meant that we were finally going to get final death

         21  certificates right away, and I had to break the bad

         22  news to her that, no, we still have to go through

         23  the process.  The medical examiner's amendment has

         24  to go downtown to Worth Street and be amended in the

         25  Correction Department, then I have to submit another
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          2  order or exchange the certificates that she has that

          3  already say "pending" in order to receive final

          4  copies that we'd be able to provide to the Insurance

          5  Department.

          6                 She did wonder, and I kind of

          7  wondered that myself, too, why there's not some sort

          8  of process where families or funeral directors can

          9  be notified when corrections get there as opposed to

         10  playing telephone tag or having to stop into the

         11  Correction Department and stand on line every time

         12  we go to Worth Street, to find out, just to ask

         13  whether or not a medical examiner's case has been

         14  amended.

         15                 Finally, I discovered in October,

         16  early October, I think it was the first week of

         17  October, that the amendment was actually made on

         18  September 11th.  I was surprised at that, but happy

         19  at the same time, that finally we can get things

         20  moving and get her paperwork submitted 'cause I know

         21  they were waiting for their insurance money.

         22                 I placed an order for the final

         23  certificate on October 10th, 2002.  The final

         24  certificate was processed on November 21st, 2002 and

         25  sent back to the funeral home. I, in turn, forwarded
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          2  it to MetLife on November 23rd and the claim was

          3  processed, checks were sent to the family and to the

          4  funeral home for everything and we received them on

          5  December 10th, 2002.

          6                 It was a total of five months and

          7  three days from the death of Miss Manderson's father

          8  until the time she got that check from the insurance

          9  company that she was looking for and expecting right

         10  away.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         12  much. That was the best summary ever.  Miss

         13  Thompson?  Are you done, Mr. Lane?  Yeah, Miss

         14  Thompson, go ahead.

         15                 MS. THOMPSON:  Good afternoon,

         16  Chairperson Brewer, Chairperson Quinn, members of

         17  Council.  My name is Vicki Thompson.  As previously

         18  stated I am the President of the Brooklyn & Long

         19  Island Funeral Directors Association which is

         20  comprised largely of approximately 50 African

         21  American funeral home owners, funeral home employees

         22  and tradespersons.

         23                 We fully support Bill 198 being

         24  passed.  And not to sound too redundant, I'm sure we

         25  spent a lot of time, as you said, but the reason
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          2  being first and foremost the Health Department, we

          3  feel, has taken -- as they say, time has been taken,

          4  time has been spent on this.  If another two years

          5  are allowed, we feel another two years after that we

          6  will now be coming before you again to ask that this

          7  bill be passed.

          8                 Second of all, the hospitals, a lot

          9  of the funeral homes that we are -- our membership

         10  consists of are, of course, located in Brooklyn,

         11  some in Queens and Long Island.  The ones in

         12  Brooklyn, we are really within the same radius, so

         13  we deal with a lot of the same hospitals.  And all

         14  of us have the same exact problems, one being St.

         15  Mary's Hospital, which I have spoken about

         16  previously.  St. Mary's is on the average a two to

         17  three- day wait for a doctor to finally even sign

         18  the death certificate.  We will call and call and

         19  call and call, ask to speak to an administrator

         20  who's in a meeting, supervisor who's in a meeting

         21  and we get little to no response.  We feel that if

         22  the laws are now mandated, it will now put them on a

         23  check and balance, not just that hospital but many

         24  of the hospitals there in the community.

         25                 Our personal favorite are the private
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          2  doctors who I've been a licensed funeral director

          3  and serving the community for approximately 14

          4  years.  Never once in my experience have I had a

          5  private doctor volunteer to come to my funeral home

          6  in Bedford- Stuyvesant to sign a death certificate.

          7  It is now my responsibility or my firm's

          8  responsibility to seek him out.  He may have had

          9  office hours by the time we've gotten the

         10  information, because their loved one, the family's

         11  loved one passed away in the home and he is no

         12  longer there.  But he had spoken with the medical

         13  examiner and, in fact, agreed to sign the

         14  certificate.  The next day might be Wednesday.  He's

         15  off. So, okay, we have to wait now 'til Thursday.

         16  He has afternoon hours.  Those are from two to five.

         17    So, simply put, I'm relegated on his time

         18  schedule, never mind the fact that the family might

         19  say they want the funeral service to take place on

         20  Friday morning.  Also, the other thing, to go out

         21  now to seek him out, to wait in his office, to now

         22  come back, prepare the certificate and to keep

         23  fingers and toes crossed that there won't be a

         24  problem once we get down to the Health Department to

         25  file for the death certificates.             The
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          2  death certificates, a lot of times in my personal

          3  experience, has not been one in which something as

          4  simple as the date being off or not there, it's more

          5  often than not the cause of death.  And when we

          6  speak to the issuing physician about that, that the

          7  cause of death 'cause a lot of time funeral

          8  directors do know the appropriate causes of death

          9  that will, of course, be acceptable by the

         10  Department of Health, we are told that they are the

         11  doctor and they know what to do.  They also get very

         12  insulted by the fact that a, what they would call a

         13  clerk is telling them what's acceptable cause of

         14  death and they, again, they're a physician so they

         15  will put what they deem is right and just until

         16  we've gone all the way down to the Department of

         17  Health and are now told that it was not correct.

         18                 I'm just going to show one brief

         19  scenario with you.  Mine has to do with cremation.

         20  I had a group of four young women, all being under

         21  the age of 30, which came in to have a, not even a

         22  viewing, but basically they were allowed to view

         23  their mother, the mother was unembalmed and the

         24  mother would now be taken to the, directly to the

         25  crematory.  The crematory has a chapel in its
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          2  facility where they, along with their family, would

          3  now have a brief service and then mother would be

          4  cremated.

          5                 Well, the scheduled service was on a

          6  Saturday.  For two days we went back and forth

          7  between the hospital and the Department of Health

          8  because the first certificate was rejected, the

          9  second certificate was rejected, and then when we --

         10  well, we were calling for the actual medical

         11  examiner to now get in contact for a correct cause

         12  of death, for the physician to put down

         13  appropriately. The physician could not be found.

         14  And this was a Friday evening.  The Medical

         15  Examiner's Office did help.  One of their gentlemen

         16  there, I forget his name, I really was -- he's been

         17  a lot of help in a lot of different instances, but

         18  he tried to page the doctor.  He tried to call.  We

         19  kept calling all through the night.  No doctor ever

         20  returned my call or the medical examiner's call.

         21                 Henceforth, on Saturday morning the

         22  Health Department still said, "I'm sorry, there's

         23  nothing that we can do."  The Medical Examiner's

         24  Office was, "I'm sorry, there's nothing we can do

         25  except if you need the certificate, we will now have
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          2  to call the body into the Kings County Medical

          3  Examiner's Office."

          4                 So, picture four young women under

          5  the age of 30, they're there with their family.

          6  They're looking for a closure for their mother and

          7  there was no closure to be met on that day because

          8  actually a Kings County Medical Examiner's truck

          9  did, in fact, come to our facilities, pick up the

         10  mother, take the mother to the morgue and they did

         11  issue us a certificate, however crematories are

         12  closed on Sunday, so now nothing could be done for

         13  the family until Monday morning.

         14                 All of this running around that we

         15  have to do added to the fact that we still have to

         16  embalm family's loved ones, dress, casket, groom

         17  them, order their caskets, the cemeteries and their

         18  additional services and merchandise.  All of the

         19  additional running around, and the time constraints

         20  and the way that we're treated when we're trying to

         21  do for the family is usually given a thank you by

         22  the family, where we're now told all of this is our

         23  fault somehow because we should have known and we

         24  should have done because they don't understand that

         25  it's not in our control, that this is between the
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          2  hospital or the physician, medical examiner and the

          3  Health Department.

          4                 So, I'm respectfully asking that you

          5  do pass the bill so, in fact, you can get us taken

          6  out of the picture and the scenario and we can

          7  remain the professionals to our families, that they

          8  have entrusted their loved ones to be.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         10  much. Miss Granby, do you want to just join us?

         11                 MR. GRANBY:  Sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.

         13                 MS. GRANBY:  Good afternoon.  My name

         14  is Ayris Granby and I am the Vice- President of the

         15  Granby's Funeral Service.

         16                 To put another aspect of everything

         17  that my colleagues have already expressed.  Work

         18  with me on this concept.  We have a death

         19  certificate with the name of the deceased, we file

         20  the necessary paperwork, bring the death

         21  certificates back to the family and the family

         22  informs us the hospital put down the wrong name of

         23  the deceased person. No problem.  We call the

         24  hospital, get a replacement certificate right away.

         25  Then we file the necessary paperwork for the
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          2  certificate with the Department of Health, Division

          3  of Corrections and subsequently are told they lost

          4  the certificate and they are telling us that we have

          5  to get a new one.  Now, normally our Corrections

          6  Department, with my experience, has been a six to

          7  eight- week period.  This had been already the sixth

          8  week when we're calling them saying where are the

          9  death certificates when they tell us they lost it.

         10  They did not send us a notification nor give us a

         11  phone call.

         12                 Subsequently, we went back and forth

         13  with them and informing the family that we still

         14  haven't gotten the death certificates and we are

         15  being told that we have to get another death

         16  certificate.  Well, the family member works in the

         17  hospital, in the Records Department.  She states,

         18   "No, you're not, they have to find it."  Well, we

         19  told the Department of Health that you have to find

         20  the death certificate.  It was brought to you in

         21  proper order, you have to find it.  The Department

         22  of Health then called to Medical Records Department

         23  of the hospital without our knowing and asked for a

         24  new certificate.  They got the family member and she

         25  politely told them, "No, you find that certificate
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          2  and get it corrected."  Well, the long story short,

          3  eight months later we got the death certificates.

          4  That is unacceptable.

          5                 A family that has a need for a death

          6  certificate to change the name of the car from dad's

          7  name to the daughter's name, a family where they

          8  have a Will where they have to probate the Will in

          9  order so that mom doesn't lose the house, eight

         10  months is too long.

         11                 Now, in regards to the technology

         12  issue, well, newsflash.  Now the mortuary science

         13  schools teach all the mortuary science students how

         14  to use a computer, other than just playing

         15  solitaire.

         16                 So, what I'm saying is the generation

         17  that's coming in now knows how to use the computer.

         18  We, as colleagues, are not adversaries to one

         19  another.  People don't know how many times we have

         20  helped each other behind the scenes and we will help

         21  each other to move forward EDRS.

         22  All we're asking is that you help us to help our

         23  families. Right now the Department of Health is not

         24  consumer friendly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very
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          2  much. Are there questions?  Yes, Dr. Stewart.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

          4  Madam Chair.

          5                 I want to know, there's some

          6  religions that will not hold a body for more than 48

          7  hours or so.  What do you do in a case when you

          8  can't get a death certificate?

          9                 MS. GRANBY:  When we have those

         10  persons who have the religious background where they

         11  wish to have the person, disposition done within a

         12  48- hour period, we're running 24 hours trying to

         13  get that death certificate, and if we cannot get any

         14  results from the doctor, then we're going to the

         15  Medical Examiners Office.  We have high praises for

         16  the Medical Examiners Office because they step

         17  forward and help us with what we need to do.  And it

         18  may mean that we have to either wait for the medical

         19  investigator to come to our facility or we have to

         20  put that deceased person in our vehicle, take them

         21  to the Medical Examiners Office for them to be

         22  examined to make sure that their cause of death is

         23  not deemed suspicious by nature.  So, we the funeral

         24  directors are now working on a 24- hour basis to get

         25  this result so the family does not know, oh, we
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          2  can't do this for mother.  If it's such that we

          3  cannot get that result, then the worst case scenario

          4  is we put the family on everybody.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Council Member

          6  Clark.'

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARK:  I wanted to

          8  thank all of your for your testimony here today.  It

          9  really pays to have those of you who are the

         10  practitioners to come before us to give us an

         11  indication of what happens on a regular basis or

         12  just all of what you actually experience and what it

         13  means for our constituents.

         14                 I also wanted to just highlight for

         15  my colleagues that one of the persons testifying

         16  today, Miss Vicki Thompson, is probably, outside of

         17  my family, one of the individuals whose known me

         18  longest.  We attended Sunday school together and

         19  high school together.

         20                 MS. THOMPSON:  You'd hang around Ms.

         21  Thompson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARK:  Her family has

         23  certainly provided this service to our community for

         24  many generations.  You see now Vicki is in a

         25  position where she's advocating for many throughout
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          2  our city.

          3                 Just finally to say, we've talked

          4  about this deadline of two years and one of, I

          5  guess, my pet peeves overall is that we've come to a

          6  point where throughout the City of New York we're

          7  finding systems that are antiquated. And, I guess,

          8  there's just a new generation that recognizes the

          9  advances that have been made and are frustrated by

         10  the fact that we aren't utilizing them for your

         11  businesses.              What do you see as the

         12  difference between having the electronic system in

         13  place yesterday and having it done tomorrow?  What

         14  will that difference be for you?

         15                 MS. THOMPSON:  I believe, and I

         16  believe everyone here would say manpower hours that

         17  are spent and which cause the firms, the smaller

         18  firms and the larger firms great deal of money.

         19  See, on our general price list, which we're

         20  regulated by the Federal Trade Commission to give,

         21  we give one set price for services that may include

         22  the picking up of death certificates and your loved

         23  one from the hospital.  Now, if we have to pay

         24  someone, a tradesperson or whatever the case may be,

         25  to pick up the family's loved one, and now they
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          2  can't pick up the family's loved one because the

          3  death certificate is wrong so they have to come back

          4  again, again, and then to refile, all of our profit

          5  margin may have just been given completely and

          6  totally to the tradesperson and then some. So,

          7  that's it, bottom line.  We are using up a lot of

          8  manpower hours, a lot of times there's two funeral

          9  directors.

         10                 And, Chairperson Brewer, I thank you

         11  and I applaud you for taking the time out of your

         12  busy day to go down to the Health Department on

         13  yesterday to see for yourself people's spouses,

         14  family members sitting around in a car.  I mean,

         15  that's time that could be spent with their families

         16  in the movies or at the park or somewhere.

         17                 You know, I grew up in funeral

         18  industry, so I'm very well acquainted with the extra

         19  time that -- you know, someone out of the industry

         20  may think, oh, you're just in it for the money.

         21  There's so many other things that we do because we

         22  care and that we want to give the best services

         23  possible to a family that the extensions of a

         24  funeral director's family also become involved.  I'm

         25  sure that wife had plenty of other things that she'd
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          2  rather be doing than sitting outside of the Health

          3  Department for an hour waiting for a funeral

          4  director to get a certified copy of death.

          5                 I also might add to that, 9:00 and

          6  those wee hours are usually the only time the

          7  funeral director gets an opportunity to go.  Most

          8  funeral homes close at 9, 10:00 in the evening, so

          9  that's why we're out there so late because we've had

         10  to do everything else during the day.

         11                 I hope I answered your question,

         12  Councilman. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I don't have a

         14  question. I just wanted to thank you all for -- it's

         15  very significant when any person takes time out of

         16  their day or, you know, their personal time, their

         17  professional time to come down to City Hall.  We

         18  really appreciate that.  Given all the running

         19  around and time delays, et cetera, that have been

         20  laid out as it relates to your industry, it's even

         21  more impressive.  But I want to sincerely thank you.

         22                 I think, you know, sometimes issues

         23   -- never when Gale talks about them -- but

         24  sometimes issues of electronic, things of that

         25  nature can seem a little abstract and not
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          2  particularly human.  I think you were incredibly

          3  helpful in making them very tangible and real for

          4  me, who's not that kind of techy- inclined person,

          5  very understandable. So, I want to very much thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I second that.

          8                 I also wanted to ask Mr. Hilgendorff,

          9  I know you're sort of still here.  We appreciate

         10  your making the time to join us.  One is to just go

         11  through some of the security features of your

         12  system.  I know it was alluded to earlier and, also,

         13  just from your guesstimate, how much could the City

         14  of New York save based on your extensive experience

         15  in New Jersey with an EDRS system?

         16                 MR. HILGENDORFF:   Well, our system,

         17  right now we're running a secure website so

         18  everything between the browser and the server, the

         19  web server is encrypted and that's the 1024 bit or

         20  48- bit encryption, the highest that we have.  For

         21  each individual user, there is an ID and password.

         22  We haven't gone past that.  That was actually the

         23  recommendation from our central OITS, the state

         24  group, to use that.  Now, we give those passwords

         25  out either in person or, for instance, let's say a
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          2  hospital physician, we create it at the hospital's

          3  request, put it in a sealed envelope and we give it

          4  to, let's say, the Medical Records Office. They give

          5  it out only in person by someone that knows that

          6  physician.  So, generally, the IDs are given out

          7  directly to the individual.

          8                 There are plans in New Jersey --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  How many

         10  hospitals are you dealing with?  Do you have a

         11  guesstimate how many hospitals?

         12                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  Total in New --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  All across the

         14  state.

         15                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  Between 70 and 80

         16  hospitals.  And there are between 300 and 350

         17  nursing homes. There's overlap on the physicians

         18  there.

         19                 The State of New Jersey has entered

         20  into a contract with VeriSign for the issuance of

         21  digital certificates, and they're beginning that

         22  process now.  They issued them -- they're doing a

         23  pilot with workmen compensation lawyers.  They keep

         24  saying that we're going to be next in a pilot.

         25                 The one problem with digital
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          2  certificates is they don't roam well at this point.

          3  You know, they're generally a little file that's in

          4  your browser on that PC and that won't work for a

          5  system like this.  So, the State of New Jersey's

          6  actually looking into a key fob where the

          7  certificate's on the key fob and, of course, you'd

          8  then -- it's a USB kind of connection.  But that's

          9  one of the things that they were talking of piloting

         10  with us, that we would get one hospital and again a

         11  certain group of physicians and issue this key fob

         12  to them so that then they could really authenticate

         13  and certify from any PC.

         14                 Cost, as Don said, fiscal year 2000,

         15  2001, 2002 we had an appropriation of $250,000.

         16  This year it was actually reduced to 125.  With that

         17  money we got the New York system, the New York State

         18  system, modified it.  We bought the hardware, a web

         19  server and a database server, software.  It pays

         20  maintenance, hardware and software maintenance, pays

         21  some salaries out of it.  But, I mean, that's what

         22  our cost is.  Whether that would apply to New York,

         23  I couldn't say, but it works for New Jersey.

         24                 MR. LIPIRA:  Were you alluding to the

         25  cost savings?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Yes, cost

          3  savings, also. Either one.

          4                 MR. LIPIRA:  Okay, cost savings.  If

          5  you were a funeral director in New Jersey you

          6  technically don't have to leave your office.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right.

          8                 MR. LIPIRA:  If that record is filed

          9  totally electronically, the funeral director would

         10  have the burial permit issued in his office.  He

         11  would put his order in for certified copies and he

         12  could request that be overnighted to him.  So, he

         13  could do all that via the internet, providing he has

         14  a totally internet- completed certificate.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  What software do

         16  you use for the digital signature?  What do you do

         17  on that front? Do you have to deal with --

         18                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  It's going to be

         19  VeriSign once it's --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It's going to be

         21  VeriSign.  Okay.

         22                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  Right now, as I

         23  say, it's just an ID and password that we create and

         24  issue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And then just
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          2  finally on the -- maybe we talked about this

          3  earlier, but from your perspective on the mandatory

          4  issue, have you ever had any outages?  Has that been

          5  a problem in New Jersey?

          6                 MR. LIPIRA:  There have been no

          7  outages. This software runs 24 hours a day, seven

          8  days a week.  We welcome comments from those that

          9  are using it because we want to keep updating this

         10  system and making it as perfect as we can.  I'm

         11  looking forward to the new national recommendations

         12  because we'll bolt them right onto it.

         13                 The system is working and, I guess,

         14  that's the simplest way I can put it, it works.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Mr. Hilgendorff,

         16  no outages at all.  So, it's a mandatory system?

         17                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  It's surprisingly

         18  stable. I mean, we had -- the database server went

         19  down once for a couple of hours due to a power

         20  failure.  I mean the power supply in the box.  But

         21  we have onsite four- hour service, so we can get it

         22  up pretty quickly.  But the software itself is quite

         23  stable.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And you have a

         25  mandatory system or --
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          2                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  No, well, the

          3  legislation is voluntary, that's why we're now into

          4  February of 2003. We're almost three years past the

          5  first electronic filing and we are only at one

          6  percent because the hospitals, and mainly the

          7  physicians, are, you know, they're reluctant

          8  participants.

          9                 MR. LIPIRA:  Could I address that,

         10  too?  We are -- at the time I retired we were filing

         11  three completed certificates a day.  That's totally

         12  electronically filed with the funeral director, the

         13  physician, the hospital and the registrar all hooked

         14  up.  In addition to that, there are thousands of

         15  certificates that are started by the hospital that

         16  are what we call partits (phonetic).  And the

         17  hospital might do it, the physician may complete his

         18  part, the funeral director may not be on the system,

         19  or the doctor doesn't do his part and the funeral

         20  director is on the system.  So, at that point, it

         21  drops to paper.  But we still capture that data.  In

         22  other words, that's less keying that we have to do

         23  because whatever is keyed onto that document, we're

         24  getting.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Do you have an
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          2  advisory group that works with you in New Jersey

          3  and, also, how is the Medical Society work with you?

          4    Why don't we start with you, Mr. Hilgendorff.

          5                 MR. HILGENDORFF:  Well, actually back

          6  in '99 we started with this big advisory group that

          7  we got everybody together when we announced that we

          8  wanted to undertake this and since then, I mean, I'm

          9  generally interacting with the Funeral Directors

         10  Association on a regular basis.  I've made

         11  presentations for the Hospital Association.  The

         12  Medical Society is a harder one to get involved, but

         13  we have actually prepared a report that was actually

         14  issued in the Medical Society, the New Jersey

         15  Medical Society newsletter, that was announcing the

         16  system. I mean, they're receptive.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  Thank you

         18  very much.  Thank you, Council Member Quinn.

         19                 Meeting adjourned.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 1:40 p.m.)
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